

The Scottish Parliament Pàrlamaid na h-Alba

Official Report

MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Wednesday 11 September 2013

Session 4

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body

Information on the Scottish Parliament's copyright policy can be found on the website -<u>www.scottish.parliament.uk</u> or by contacting Public Information on 0131 348 5000

Wednesday 11 September 2013

CONTENTS

	Col.
PORTFOLIO QUESTION TIME	
RURAL AFFAIRS AND THE ENVIRONMENT	
Red Meat Levy	
Scotch Beef (Japan)	
Financial Support for Farmers (Extreme Weather Losses)	
Marine Protected Areas	
Air Pollution	
Food Recycling	
Gull Management Guidance	
North-east Fishing Representatives (Meetings)	
JUSTICE AND THE LAW OFFICERS	
Solemn Procedure Recommendations	
Chief Constable (Meetings)	
Court Capacity	
Cycling Accidents (Dangerous Driving)	
"Inspection report on Lanarkshire Area of Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service"	
Police Stations (Police Scotland Review)	
DRAFT BUDGET 2014-15	
Statement—[John Swinney].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and Sustainable Growth (John Swinney)	
ENTERPRISE NETWORKS.	
Motion moved—[Fergus Ewing].	0
Amendment moved—[Jenny Marra].	
Amendment moved—[Murdo Fraser].	
The Minister for Energy, Enterprise and Tourism (Fergus Ewing)	22294
Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab)	
Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)	
Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)	
Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)	
Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP)	
Maureen Watt (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP)	
Margaret McDougall (West Scotland) (Lab)	
Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)	
Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD)	
Christian Allard (North East Scotland) (SNP)	
Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab) Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)	
Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Jenny Marra	
Fergus Ewing	
BUSINESS MOTIONS	
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick]— and agreed to.	00000
PARLIAMENTARY BUREAU MOTIONS	
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick].	00007
DECISION TIME	

End Revenge Porn	22344
Motion debated—[Christina McKelvie].	
Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)	22344
Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab)	22347
Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP)	22348
Margaret Mitchell (Central Scotland) (Con)	22350
Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)	22351
Kezia Dugdale (Lothian) (Lab)	22352
The Minister for Commonwealth Games and Sport (Shona Robison)	22354

Scottish Parliament

Wednesday 11 September 2013

[The Deputy Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 14:00]

Portfolio Question Time

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): Good afternoon. The first item of business is portfolio questions. So that I can get as many people in as possible, I would prefer to have short and succinct questions, and answers to match, please.

Rural Affairs and the Environment

Red Meat Levy

1. James Dornan (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what recent progress has been made in discussions with the UK Government on repatriating the annual £1.4 million of red meat levy income paid by Scotland's farmers. (S4O-02352)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): Given that this serious issue has been going on for far too long, the First Minister recently wrote to the Prime Minister to seek his support for repatriation of the levy that rightly belongs to Scotland. I inform members that the Prime Minister has responded to the letter but has declined our request, which is unfortunate. I know that that decision will disappoint the whole of the Scottish red meat industry, which is unanimous in the view that Scotland's producers are being short-changed.

Quality Meat Scotland has cautiously accepted an invitation from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs minister of state to join a forum to determine spending priorities for the disputed levy income. However, I hope that members agree that rather than make the new and spurious argument that the lost levy somehow benefits the Scottish industry, the United Kingdom Government would do better to focus on putting right the wrong.

James Dornan: Given the UK Government's negative response on this important issue, on which the Scottish Government has the support of Quality Meat Scotland and NFU Scotland, does the cabinet secretary share my disappointment at the Prime Minister's unwillingness to change tack, although Scotland is so clearly losing out?

Richard Lochhead: I think that there will be a huge degree of anger throughout the livestock sector in Scotland, particularly at a time when the levy income is desperately needed to promote the Scottish brands, so that producers can have a greater return from the marketplace.

As James Dornan said, it is estimated that we are losing £1.4 million of red meat levy over the border every year. The promotional levy in relation to animals that were born and reared in Scotland is being used to promote produce from outside Scotland, because the animals were slaughtered over the border. That is ridiculous, unacceptable and indefensible. I am very disappointed by the Prime Minister's response, as are the First Minister and the Scottish Government.

Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): There is certainly a need for discussions on the distribution of the red meat levy. However, if we are looking for a solution, we surely need to understand how the situation has come about. The availability of abattoirs in Scotland and competitive trading in livestock are key factors. What can the Scottish Government do to make available more viable options in Scotland?

Richard Lochhead: Claire Baker made an important point. Because of the reduction in concentration and capacity of processing throughout Great Britain, more animals are going south of the border to be slaughtered. A number of moves are afoot to try to increase processing in Scotland, but as the member knows, those moves largely relate to sheep—we have very little processing capacity in Scotland for lamb. That is a long-standing issue, unfortunately.

As a result of a number of other factors, such as the closure of Vion, there are moves afoot to address the problem in relation to the pig sector.

We are working closely with the red meat sector to see whether we can increase capacity in Scotland. However, a very flawed formula is putting Scotland at an unfair disadvantage; that is what should be fixed.

Alex Fergusson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con): I am broadly in favour of the principle behind a review of how the levy is deducted and distributed, but I think that the cabinet secretary has been tempted to go for headlines without thinking through the full consequences, which could include losing the benefit of up to £7 million that is ring-fenced for promotion and research on British meat.

The cabinet secretary mentioned the forum that the UK minister offered to set up, which will include all the meat-levy-raising bodies. Can he say why he has so robustly dismissed the forum's benefits, given that its remit would be to look at all the issues and to determine priorities in the UK?

Richard Lochhead: I point out to Alex Fergusson that there have been reviews in the past. There was a review several years ago, and it is unfortunate that its recommendations were not acted on.

A spurious new argument came on the scene a few months ago, although there have been disputes and debates about the issue for several years. The UK Government is trying to defend the status quo for the levy arrangements by suggesting that somehow Scotland benefits from UK spend.

We want to promote the Scottish—not the British—brand and to secure the Scottish premium for red meat. That is why the current arrangements are flawed.

On the proposed new forum, I said at the time and continue to say that I would be very concerned if the forum was another fudge and simply a talking shop to soak up time and allow the current arrangements to stay in place a bit longer, to Scotland's disadvantage.

Scotch Beef (Japan)

2. Nanette Milne (North East Scotland) (Con): To ask the Scottish Government what discussions it has had regarding calls to reopen the market for Scotch beef in Japan. (S4O-02353)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): Last November, I led Scotland's biggest delegation of food and drink businesses to Japan and China to promote our fantastic larder to those exciting and lucrative markets. However, I was extremely disappointed to hear from the United Kingdom embassy that gaining access for Scotch beef to the Japanese market was not a priority at the time for the UK Government.

I have since written to the UK Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to ask him to prioritise that, but hope that we will see more progress in the near future. Of course, if Scotland was an independent country, we would be able to decide our own priority markets and take the necessary actions to help our red meat sector.

Nanette Milne: The potential beef market in Japan will be significant if the import ban is lifted. Early moves to promote our world renowned Scotch beef there could significantly benefit farmers here.

The Japanese Food Safety Commission has recommended the easing of restrictions on beef imports to allow animals of 30 months and younger to be imported from this year. What further steps will the cabinet secretary take with his counterparts in Japan to try to secure that market? What preparations have been made by the beef industry to promote Scotch beef in Japan? **Richard Lochhead:** When I was in Tokyo—a city of 30 million people—I spoke to a top chef who told me that he believed that the best beef in the world comes from Scotland. He wished that he could source it so that he could serve it in his restaurant in a top Tokyo hotel. There is certainly a demand for the Scottish product, which is why I have been doing what I can to make representations to the UK Government to make that more of a priority.

A questionnaire from the Japanese authorities has been with the UK Government for some time and requires to be filled in. I hope that it will be returned very soon and that we can get the ban lifted and get Scotch beef on to the top restaurant tables in Japan and elsewhere in Asia.

Financial Support for Farmers (Extreme Weather Losses)

3. Alison McInnes (North East Scotland) (LD): To ask the Scottish Government what progress it has made in distributing financial support to farmers who experienced losses due to extreme weather earlier this year. (S4O-02354)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): The Scottish Government has made available a total of £6.5 million in compensation. I confirm that more than £730,000 has been paid to around 4,100 farmers. That will meet almost half the costs incurred in the collection of fallen stock that died because of the severe weather in March to May this year. The remainder will be used to meet eligible claims arising from more than 1,000 applications received under our weather aid scheme, with payments starting in the next 10 days.

Alison McInnes: I am glad to hear the cabinet secretary suggest that the payments will start in the next 10 days, but there has been a sense that he has been dragging his feet a little. We are approaching winter. I am sure that the cabinet secretary would agree that it is vital that the Government process the weather aid scheme payments without any further delay and gives farmers that certainty. Can he give me some idea of what percentage of payments will be made in the next 10 days?

Richard Lochhead: I am happy to send the member some of the rates that were in the application documents, because every case will be different. The compensation scheme will cover all livestock species affected so that people can claim for cattle and sheep and so on.

I have to pick up on the member's comment that the Scottish Government is somehow dragging its feet. We are dealing with a complex and difficult situation faced by many farming businesses and

22262

we also have to meet state-aid rules. The industry is very understanding of the time taken; indeed it is a steering group involving industry members that is driving the weather aid scheme forward. If the member thinks that we are not doing enough in Scotland, perhaps she should look south of the border at the anger among farmers in England about the lack of support that they have received from the Conservative-Lib Dem coalition Government in that country.

Marine Protected Areas

4. Fiona McLeod (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what mechanisms are available to enforce nature conservation legislation regarding marine protected areas. (S4O-02355)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): A marine planning consultation is under way and that includes proposals for marine protected areas and details of how MPAs might be managed to protect habitats and species.

The main legislation for designation and management of MPAs is the Marine (Scotland) Act 2010 for inshore waters and the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 for the offshore area.

The Marine (Scotland) Act 2010 includes powers to make marine conservation orders to ensure that the conservation objectives of an MPA are met. The act also includes powers to set up management schemes to help to ensure that everyone knows which features are being protected through either statutory or voluntary measures.

Fiona McLeod: Does the cabinet secretary believe that the development of new technology will play an important role in helping Marine Scotland and enforcement officers to ensure that there are continuously effective compliance and enforcement arrangements?

Richard Lochhead: Fiona McLeod raises an interesting point. Marine Scotland is taking seriously the issue of how new technology can be used in relation to the marine protected areas. Of course, with regard to fisheries management, Scotland has helped to blaze a trail in terms of the use of closed-circuit television on fishing vessels, sensors on equipment and so on. We are giving a lot of attention to the issue.

Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab): Can the cabinet secretary explain why activities that have been identified as having a negative impact on the protected features of an MPA can still be allowed to happen within some parts of that same area? How will that facilitate recovery of our seas? The proposed Clyde sea sill MPA is one such example, as demersal fishing may continue in some parts of the site.

Richard Lochhead: In each case in which a new marine protected area is proposed, there will be a management plan, which will have to be proportionate and effective and will be based on scientific evidence. I would welcome more information about the member's concerns about the particular proposal that she mentions, but I assure the chamber that we are taking a sensible way forward to ensure that we balance the impact on marine industries with the need for the MPAs to do what they need to do, which is to protect the marine environment.

Jamie McGrigor (Highlands and Islands) (Con): How do ministers ensure that the needs of fishermen are fully considered when MPAs are proposed?

Richard Lochhead: The way in which Scotland has approached the identification of marine protected areas, through the Marine (Scotland) Act 2010, has been highly praised, especially when contrasted with the situation south of the border. Stakeholders feel that Scotland is going about this the right way and that there are perhaps lessons to be learned by the authorities down there.

I am confident that the interests of fishermen are being taken into account. Indeed, they have been fully involved in the consultation process to get us to where we are today.

Air Pollution

5. Anne McTaggart (Glasgow) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government whether it is meeting its targets to reduce air pollution. (S4O-02356)

The Minister for Environment and Climate Change (Paul Wheelhouse): Although there are still some hotspots of poorer air quality in a number of urban areas, we are meeting domestic and European air quality targets across much of Scotland.

The Scottish Government is working closely with the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, local authorities, Transport Scotland and other partners to address the issues. We recognise that we must build on achievements to date and continue to take action to improve air quality.

That is why I welcome the report on Scottish emissions of several key air pollutants that was published today. It shows substantial reductions in emissions for all the pollutants since 1990. That is further confirmation that we have made significant progress in addressing poor air quality, but we are committed to continued action to ensure that that positive trend continues.

Anne McTaggart: The cabinet secretary will be aware that recent studies of the subway system in

22264

Glasgow have highlighted dangerously high levels of air pollution and a concentration of tiny metallic particles that is well in excess of recommended safety limits. In light of that discovery, what action has the Scottish Government taken to reduce levels of pollution and increase air quality for commuters in Glasgow?

Paul Wheelhouse: The member raises an important point. Clearly, we have an objective to try to ensure that all of Scotland meets the required standards. Glasgow is not expected to comply until after the 2015 deadline, as I am sure the member knows. The whole of Scotland is expected to comply with the limit values by 2015, based on a combination of current and planned measures, with the exception of one road stretch—the missing link of the M8 between Newhouse and Baillieston, to the east of Glasgow. Within the Glasgow city area, there are expected to be no exceedances of the limit values by 2015, so we are making progress.

We have to deal with that one stretch of road, which affects commuters to Glasgow, but we are planning to tackle that. Transport Scotland estimates completion of that stretch of road in 2017-18. Once the upgrade is complete, emissions along the road will also comply with the limit values.

Alison Johnstone (Lothian) (Green): Edinburgh's air quality management areas were extended this year because pollution targets are not being met. The City of Edinburgh Council now has a plan to cut pollution on Leith Walk by investing in walking and cycling, and it has asked Transport Scotland for a £3 million contribution. Will the Government contribute an appropriate portion of the Forth road bridge underspend to tackle the air pollution that the new bridge will cause?

Paul Wheelhouse: I run up against portfolio boundaries in terms of allocating spend from the Forth bridge. However, I take the serious point that Alison Johnstone makes and I am happy to meet her to discuss the issues and determine how we can progress action to tackle the AQMAs in the Lothians. I can always make representations to my colleague Keith Brown about the use of the funds.

Food Recycling

6. Richard Baker (North East Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what action it is taking to promote food recycling. (S4O-02357)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): Since 2011, our zero waste programme has provided £20 million to councils throughout Scotland to support the roll-out of food-waste collections. That action means that, by February 2014, 1.2 million households will have access to a food-waste collection service.

In addition, the waste regulations that the Parliament passed last year will mean that the majority of households and businesses in Scotland will have access to a food-waste collection by the end of 2015, with many receiving the service by the end of this year.

Richard Baker: As the cabinet secretary said, the zero waste action plan identifies the contribution that food recycling can make to reducing landfill usage and greenhouse gas emissions. Will he tell me what national targets have been set to increase food recycling, what monitoring of progress towards any goals that have been set is being made and what action ministers are taking to increase food recycling not only in individual households but throughout the public sector? There is huge capacity for increased food recycling in those areas.

Richard Lochhead: The overall target for recycling is 70 per cent by 2025, and food waste has a contribution to make to that. There are no specific targets for food-waste recycling but, as I indicated in my answer, there are regulations in place that mean that, by 2016, all local authorities in Scotland will have an obligation to provide a waste collection service to non-rural homes. Therefore, I expect all local authorities to play a role in collecting food waste.

Of course, the best way that we can all contribute towards the target is just to finish the food on our plates, as I have done regularly throughout Scottish food and drink fortnight.

Gull Management Guidance

7. Jamie Hepburn (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what guidance it provides to local authorities on gull management. (S4O-02358)

The Minister for Environment and Climate Change (Paul Wheelhouse): Like all wild birds, gulls are protected by law. However, the law provides for licences to be granted to manage birds where there is a need to do so for reasons including the protection of public health and safety and preventing the spread of disease.

The Scottish Government recognises that urban gulls can pose real problems for residents and businesses, and it works with local authorities to try to develop solutions. That work has included commissioning a report on managing urban gulls from the British Trust for Ornithology, which is available on the Scottish Government website; setting up a taskforce to examine innovative solutions in the Dumfries area, including the use of falcons to displace nesting gulls, which is covered in "Use of Falcons to Displace Nesting Gulls from an Urban Area: Final Report", which is also available on the Scottish Government website; and providing direct advice on gull management through Scottish Natural Heritage, as was done with Highland Council in 2012.

Jamie Hepburn: In the Carbrain and Greenfaulds area of Cumbernauld, people's lives are being made a misery by the presence of a significant number of gulls. Some constituents report that they have been attacked.

The minister mentioned the Dumfries initiative. Does the Scottish Government share my regret that North Lanarkshire Council has refused to consider implementing such a scheme or any long-term strategies to deal with the issue despite the concern of a considerable number of my constituents?

Paul Wheelhouse: I certainly recognise the distress and disquiet that it can cause members of the public when such incidents occur. There is currently no requirement for local authorities to have an action plan in place to deal with problem gulls, but it is expected that local authorities throughout Scotland will be able to implement the recommendations of the Dumfries gull report to help to reduce the problem. I encourage the local authority in the case that Jamie Hepburn mentioned to take up that opportunity.

North-east Fishing Representatives (Meetings)

8. Maureen Watt (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government when it last met fishing representatives from north-east Scotland and what issues were discussed. (S4O-02359)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): While I was in Fraserburgh for the Cabinet meeting on Monday 2 September, I jointly hosted a fishermen's surgery, which was attended by around 50 vocal fishermen and industry representatives. We discussed a wide range of issues, such as the reform of the common fisheries policy, the allocation of fishing opportunities, the current state of the stocks and details of the £6 million support package that I recently announced to help the industry during these pretty tough economic times.

Maureen Watt: The cabinet secretary may be aware that Aberdeen City Council is undertaking redevelopment plans that would result in fish processors moving out of the Union Square area with no clear indication of where they should move to. That may impact on the critical mass of fish processing companies in the city and disproportionately on the community of Torry, where there are many other processors and where the vast majority of workers live. Does the cabinet secretary agree that fish processing plays, and should continue to play, an important role in Aberdeen's economy?

Richard Lochhead: The great city of Aberdeen was of course built on its relationship with the sea. I believe that fish processing has a role in the local economy in Torry and throughout the city of Aberdeen, and I certainly hope that it will continue to have a role.

The relocation of the existing businesses is primarily an issue for Aberdeen City Council, but if Maureen Watt feels that there is a role for me or input required from me as fishing minister, I ask her to contact me.

Justice and the Law Officers

Solemn Procedure Recommendations

1. Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government how many times a procurator fiscal's recommendation to proceed on solemn procedure has been rejected by the Crown Office since 1999. (S4O-02362)

The Lord Advocate (Frank Mulholland QC): The process to which the member refers is carried out not by the Crown Office but by independent Crown counsel. There is a long-standing convention where, in certain circumstances, the procurator fiscal seeks Crown counsel's instruction on whether a case should be prosecuted and, if so, in what forum.

It is not uncommon to commence a case on solemn procedure—petition—and for that case to be reduced to summary once further investigation has taken place. In each of the past three years, the numbers of such decisions have been 1,764, 1,865 and 1,789 respectively.

I am unable to provide a figure in relation to what forum for prosecution has been recommended by the individual preparing the case for prosecution. That data is not recorded in a searchable manner in our information technology systems. To obtain that data would require manual examination of thousands of case papers within the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service, which would be entirely disproportionate.

Jenny Marra: If I understand the Lord Advocate correctly, such negotiation between local procurators fiscal and the Crown Office occurs very frequently. The Lord Advocate cited figures that were between 1,500 and 2,000. What are the criteria for a local procurator fiscal's decision to be reviewed by the Crown Office?

The Lord Advocate: It is not really about the criteria for a decision to be reviewed, because a decision has not been taken yet. There is a process whereby the case is investigated at a

stage by the procurator fiscal. There are many reasons why cases start out as petition cases; for example, it may be that the procurator fiscal wishes to investigate more serious charges and that is part of the solemn process. It may be that the procurator fiscal wants to hold an identification parade or needs a warrant for samples or wishes to judicially examine or to have a judicial declaration by an accused. It is all part of the process whereby, ultimately, independent Crown counsel will assess a recommendation, assess all the circumstances and then take a decision as to whether proceedings should be raised and, if so, in what forum. That process has been going on for hundreds of years in Scotland's prosecution service.

It may be that the member is alluding to an issue about who takes the decisions-which member of Crown counsel takes the decisions in high-profile cases in which there are allegations of criminal conduct by a member of the Scottish Parliament, I can tell the member, as confirmed by the Crown Agent in March of this year in a letter to the Justice Committee, that where there are allegations against members of Parliament or MSPs or COPFS members of staff, that decision is not taken by law officers at all. They will not see the papers. That decision is taken by independent Crown counsel. I hope that that allays any concerns that the member or others may have. That is the process; it is a process that works and one that has been carried out for a long time.

Margaret Mitchell (Central Scotland) (Con): Is it not the case that, regardless of what procedure is used for domestic abuse cases, zero tolerance of domestic abuse is being let down by zero sentencing? Does the Lord Advocate consider it acceptable that nearly a third of those who were convicted of domestic abuse in 2011-12 were admonished in court and 12 per cent were handed a custodial sentence, which in the vast majority of cases was for less than six months, especially given the concerns that Jenny Marra has raised?

The Lord Advocate: Margaret Mitchell will appreciate that it is not appropriate for me to make any comments about sentencing, as that is a matter entirely for the courts. If I disagree with a sentence—by "I", I mean procurators fiscal and Crown counsel—and if we can do something about it, we will. For example, there are procedures for us to take an appeal on the basis that a sentence is unduly lenient. However, beyond that, I do not comment publicly on sentencing.

I should add that I have been concerned about some of the comments that have been made recently about the Bill Walker case. This is a very sensitive period, because he has not been sentenced. It is important that all members are careful that any comments they make cannot be seen to be a direct or indirect means of influencing the sentence. The sentence is entirely a matter for the court. Due process will be carried out on 20 September, when the sheriff, who has heard all the evidence and has the background reports, will impose an appropriate sentence.

Chief Constable (Meetings)

2. Paul Martin (Glasgow Provan) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government when the Cabinet Secretary for Justice last met the chief constable of Police Scotland and what matters were discussed. (S4O-02363)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Kenny MacAskill): I met the chief constable on Monday, when we both spoke at the Alcohol Focus Scotland national licensing conference in Glasgow. However, the last formal meeting was on 22 August, when we discussed a number of issues relating to the policing of Scotland.

Paul Martin: Following the cabinet secretary's discussions with the chief constable, can he advise me how many registered sex offenders remain unaccounted for in Scotland?

Kenny MacAskill: I do not have that information. As Mr Martin will know from previous discussions, the number varies on a weekly if not daily basis. However, these matters are monitored by the police. I will ensure that full and detailed information is sent to Mr Martin.

Court Capacity

3. Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): To ask the Scottish Government what assessment it has made of court capacity following the implementation of its court closures policy. (S4O-02364)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Kenny MacAskill): The assessment of court capacity was made by the Scottish Court Service, which is now an independent body corporate under the leadership of the Lord President. The SCS consulted on a range of proposals to use its estate more efficiently. Proposals to close courts required the approval of ministers and were considered by the Justice Committee.

The sheriff courts that have been scheduled for closure account for only 5 per cent of the overall business in sheriff courts, and the Scottish Court Service is satisfied that the business can be readily accommodated in the receiving courts for all those courts that are being closed. The SCS has assured me that it has done a thorough review of business trends. The service and the Lord President are confident that the court closure programme will provide a court structure that is fit for the 21st century and which supports the

22270

reforms that are being done now and those that are planned for the future.

Alex Johnstone: The forthcoming courts reform bill will transfer significant business from the Court of Session to sheriff courts, which will put even greater pressure on the courts that have survived the Government's cuts programme. How will the Scottish Government ensure that access to justice is maintained in the north-east, given that Forfar and Aberdeen sheriff courts, which are already busy, will have to absorb business from Arbroath and Stonehaven as well as significant extra work from the Court of Session?

Kenny MacAskill: Those matters have been fully factored in by the Scottish Court Service. When the Lord President appeared before the Justice Committee, he made that clear in his answers. On the transfer of business from Stonehaven to Aberdeen, it might be useful if I remind Mr Johnstone of the business at Stonehaven. In 2011-12, there were four jury trials, 11 civil ordinary actions in which a debate on legal matters proceeded or evidence was heard, and two summary cause or small claims proofs. There is capacity at Aberdeen, and the Scottish Court Service has considered its approach on that basis and in the face of the unprecedented budget cuts that are being forced on the Scottish Government and which impact on the Scottish Court Service. Efficiency is required and action must be taken, and the Scottish Court Service is satisfied that, notwithstanding the financial constraints, Aberdeen and Forfar will be able to cope.

Graeme Pearson (South Scotland) (Lab): The cabinet secretary has discussed the programme of court closures. Would he be good enough to share with us whether he is aware of any on-going conversations about a new phase of future closures under consideration?

Kenny MacAskill: No.

Margo MacDonald (Lothian) (Ind): Will the court closures have a knock-on effect on the number of hours that police officers will be expected to attend court as potential witnesses or for any other reason? I imagine that that would not help their morale just now. Will he also say whether he has had any reports of morale being not what it should be in the old Lothian and Borders Police area?

Kenny MacAskill: I assure Margo MacDonald that the Scottish Court Service discusses such matters with Police Scotland. Trials are scheduled, and the officers' availability is factored in, so matters are being dealt with in that respect.

I am certainly not aware of any concerns about the morale of officers in Lothian and Borders. I meet officers on a regular basis—not only the local inspectors but any officers whom I happen to bump into—and I will raise the issue with the Scottish Police Federation, with which I am meeting tomorrow. It seems to me that morale in Police Scotland so far is remarkably high.

Cycling Accidents (Dangerous Driving)

4. **Kezia Dugdale (Lothian) (Lab):** To ask the Scottish Government what steps Police Scotland is taking to reduce the number of accidents involving cyclists that are due to dangerous driving. (S4O-02365)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Kenny MacAskill): That is an operational matter for the chief constable of Police Scotland, who has confirmed that he is committed to improving road safety and reducing road casualties. It is one of the force's top five priorities, and more emphasis than ever before is being placed on pursuing that aim throughout Scotland.

Kezia Dugdale: Is the cabinet secretary aware of the Edinburgh cycling community's deep and widespread concern about the Government's "nice way code" campaign? Given that concern, and the high number of cycling fatalities in the past few months, will he, along with the Minister for Transport and Veterans, meet activists to discuss the campaign and perhaps review the nice way code?

Kenny MacAskill: The transport minister and I discuss those matters regularly, and we recently met the Association of Scottish Police Superintendents.

I am aware of the concern among Edinburgh's cycling community. In my capacity as justice secretary, I met people who had recently lost a loved one in a high-profile incident in the city, and another constituent who had lost a relative in an incident that happened outwith Edinburgh. I am aware of the huge grief and trauma that is caused.

I know that my colleague Keith Brown views the issue as significant, and he and I—together or individually—will doubtless discuss it with the chief constable and with Superintendent Murray, who is in charge of the road policing unit, which has primary responsibility for the matter.

I assure Kezia Dugdale that the Government and the police acknowledge the tragedies that have happened. Work must be undertaken, and it is already on-going.

Sarah Boyack (Lothian) (Lab): What advice has been given to ensure that sentencing policy is appropriate, given the rise in the number of accidents that have resulted in the deaths of cyclists in the past year?

Kenny MacAskill: It would be inappropriate for me to give advice on sentencing until the sentencing council is up and running. The decision is entirely for the court to take.

As Sarah Boyack will be aware, there is an ongoing case—which is sub judice—in which an appeal was heard by the Crown because it was felt that a sentence was unduly lenient. I fully support the Crown and endorse its actions in that regard, and the court will deliberate and make a decision in that case shortly.

"Inspection report on Lanarkshire Area of Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service"

5. John Wilson (Central Scotland) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what issues were identified in the latest "Inspection report on Lanarkshire Area of Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service" and what progress has been made on those. (S4O-02366)

The Lord Advocate (Frank Mulholland QC): Appropriate action has been taken in the seven suggested areas for improvement, and on the six recommendations from the inspection report on the Lanarkshire area, which was published in May 2010.

In 2012, the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service restructured into four federations: namely west, east, north and national, which incorporates the Scottish fatalities investigation unit and various other specialised units such as health and safety and wildlife and environmental crime. The Lanarkshire area now forms part of the west federation.

The Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service has fully embraced the use of technology to improve preparation of cases. We continually review practices and procedures to identify where improvements can be made. For example, the inspectorate made some recommendations on disclosure of evidence. The method by which disclosure is made has been reviewed and radically changed since 2010; all defence solicitors across the country now have access to online disclosure, which allows statements, photographs and documentary productions to be shared electronically. That ensures that an accurate record is kept of all disclosed material.

John Wilson: I thank the Lord Advocate for his response. What is being done to deal with the problem of "continuations", which was identified in the 2010 report? Is management dealing with that in an appropriate manner?

The Lord Advocate: John Wilson rightly raises a matter that was of concern to the inspector in 2010. The issue is commonly referred to as "churn" in the summary courts across Scotland. I point out that responsibility for tackling churn lies with all court users, not just the Crown—the 2010 report made that very point—but the Crown has been proactive in its response. Initiatives include surgeries for solicitors to discuss pleas with procurators fiscal; writing to solicitors in all summary cases to advise what plea will be acceptable to the Crown from the outset of the court process; the provision of summaries of evidence at the start of the court process; and creating secure email and online disclosure for defence solicitors.

We have also taken steps to improve witness attendance at court, with the introduction of a successful pilot witness-texting service, which sends text reminders to witnesses to attend court.

I have no doubt that all those initiatives have contributed to a reduction in churn in our summary courts. National statistics that have been collated by the Scottish Court Service show that trial-diet churn has decreased by almost 4 per cent over the past three years. However, that is not being complacent; there is more work to be done, and procurators fiscal will be at the forefront of that work.

Police Stations (Police Scotland Review)

6. Drew Smith (Glasgow) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government which police stations are being considered for closure or a reduction in counter opening hours in Police Scotland's review of police station service delivery. (S4O-02367)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Kenny MacAskill): The issue is an operational matter for the chief constable of the Police Service of Scotland.

The Government is committed to protecting and supporting front-line services: 1,000 more officers have been recruited, recorded crime is at a 39year low, and crimes of handling an offensive weapon are at a 27-year low and have been reduced by 60 per cent since 2006-07.

The new 101 telephone number is operational for the reporting of non-emergency incidents and, of course, 999 remains available for serious incidents and emergencies. Contact can also be made through email, social media and call points.

Drew Smith: I thank the cabinet secretary for that comprehensive answer, including the information on using social media for reporting crime.

Over the summer, the chief constable wrote to members about Police Scotland's review of the number and opening hours of police counters in police stations. The chief constable specifically highlighted the budget that he has been given by Mr MacAskill. Given the concerns about backfilling, which have been well aired in the Parliament on previous occasions, can the cabinet secretary confirm whether any Glasgow police stations are on a list for reduced services? Can he tell us what his priorities are, since they appear to be neither the back room nor the front counter?

Kenny MacAskill: Our priority is maintaining the 1,000 additional officers and continuing the outstanding record of a 39-year low in recorded crime.

I think that Mr Smith forgets that the review is looking at the level of public service that occurs at police offices, and not necessarily at closure of police stations. However, that will be a matter for Mr House to consider and will ultimately be a matter for the Scottish Police Authority. In the interim, the Government will continue to provide support to ensure that we have that visible police presence in our communities, thereby making Scotland safer than ever before.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I will allow a brief supplementary from John Pentland.

John Pentland (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab): Can the cabinet secretary guarantee that, when proposals come forward, consultation will take place? Will previous consultations be borne in mind? Will local people be given the opportunity to voice their concerns at public meetings?

Kenny MacAskill: I recognise that Mr Pentland has not been a member of the Justice Committee and is not sighted on justice matters, but those are now matters for the chief constable, who is ultimately held to account by the Scottish Police Authority. If Mr Pentland or the Labour Party wish to change that constitutional structure, Parliament could doubtless review it, but I have no rights or powers over such matters, at present. I believe that Parliament made the right decision in that regard, and I stand by that. Mr Pentland may care to raise the issue with the Scottish Police Authority.

Draft Budget 2014-15

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is a statement by John Swinney on the draft budget 2014-15. As the cabinet secretary will take questions at the end of his statement, there should be no interventions or interruptions.

Cabinet secretary, you have 20 minutes.

14:40

The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and Sustainable Growth (John Swinney): I am pleased to set out today the Scottish Government's draft budget for 2014-15 and indicative spending plans for 2015-16.

This budget is focused on delivering investment, protecting household incomes and creating jobs. It values our public services, the people who work for them and what they achieve. It provides opportunities for our young people and security of care for our older people. Most of all, it demonstrates the benefits of decisions being made here by those who care most about the future of the people of Scotland.

Scotland is a wealthy and a productive nation. In each of the past 30 years, we have paid more in tax per head than the rest of the United Kingdom. Excluding oil, our national income is on a par with the UK; including oil, our gross domestic product per head is 18 per cent higher than that for the UK. When compared with the Organisation for Co-operation and Development Economic countries, our GDP per head would be the eighth highest. We have a highly skilled workforce, a long-standing reputation for innovation, а respected and recognisable brand, world-class universities. and sectors and companies competing at the highest level across international markets.

With the full decision-making powers of independence, I would, today, have been able to present a budget that would have put all that economic strength to use in building a more prosperous and more just Scotland. Instead, as a result of Westminster's decisions, I must today present a budget constrained by significant cuts.

The UK spending round reduced the Scottish Government's fiscal departmental expenditure limit by 10.9 per cent in real terms over the period from 2010-11 to 2015-16, with further cuts expected for 2016-17 and 2017-18. Within that, our conventional capital budget will be reduced by 26.6 per cent. Westminster's programme of welfare cuts is taking money out of the Scottish economy, adding to the burden on our public services and hitting household budgets.

Despite that, the decisive and distinctive measures that we have taken in Scotland are delivering results. Since my last budget, Scottish GDP statistics have shown growth in each quarter, with annual growth of 1.2 per cent compared with just 0.3 per cent for the UK as a whole. Employment has risen by 45,000 over the year and our employment rate of 72.4 per cent is higher than the UK rate of 71.6 per cent. Unemployment is down 19,000 and our unemployment rate at 7.4 per cent is lower than the UK rate of 7.7 per cent. Youth unemployment is down 12,000 over the year and our youth employment rate of 57.2 per cent is higher than the UK equivalent at 49.8 per cent. The Bank of Scotland purchasing managers' index for August indicated that private sector output has expanded for the 11th month and is rising at the fastest rate since the survey began. Scotland's recovery is not, as the Chancellor of the Exchequer claims, happening because of austerity-it is happening in spite of austerity.

However, we cannot take recovery for granted and must be focused on addressing real challenges in the economy. We will face these challenges from a position of strong financial management and responsibility. Each year since 2007, I have brought a balanced budget to Parliament, meeting our commitments and delivering value for money for the taxpayer. We continue to drive efficiency with the Scottish Futures Trust helping to deliver savings in our capital programme and public bodies expected to deliver annual efficiencies of 3 per cent. In 2015-16. we will use our capital borrowing powers of up to £296 million to support our investment programme. We will apply the land and buildings transaction tax and the landfill tax, which I hope Parliament will agree this session. For 2014-15, I have made provision for the costs of the referendum on independence and the costs of implementing the Scotland Act 2012.

I will now set out for Parliament the actions that we are taking to deliver economic recovery, reform our public services and support Scotland's people, businesses and communities. Our spending plans are focused on accelerating economic recovery through investment. To tackle Westminster's cuts to capital spending, we are switching funding from resource to capital, utilising capital receipts and pursuing revenue-funded investment through the programme non-profit-distributing and the regulatory asset base rail enhancements. We do so while committing no more than 5 per cent of our future total DEL budget on the costs of our revenue-funded investment programme.

I have published today an update on the projects and the expected investment from this year through to 2022-23. In the short term, NPD investment is lower than was originally forecast.

That is for two reasons. First, some NPD projects are being concluded at lower cost. [*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Mr Dornan.

John Swinney: Secondly, some projects are taking longer to be prepared and planned. The benefit of taking time to properly prepare projects is clear from the example of the Queensferry crossing, which will be delivered on time and within a cost estimate that has reduced by £145 million since 2011.

Work continues on time and on budget on the £842 million new south Glasgow hospitals project and on major refurbishment programmes across the health service. The schools for the future programme will deliver 67 new schools across Scotland, 11 of which are already complete and operational. Construction is under way on the City of Glasgow College and Inverness College developments. Almost £2 billion of projects are in procurement and more than £500 million of those projects are expected to begin construction this financial year—they are the Ayrshire College project, the M8, M73 and M74 project bundle and a range of schools and community health projects.

The effects of the recession are still being felt in the housing market, and the Government is determined to do all that it can to help. We will support the construction industry and private house building through a range of schemes, including the MI new home mortgage indemnity scheme and our £120 million help to buy Scotland scheme, which will provide access to affordable mortgages for home buyers.

We are on track to deliver 30,000 affordable homes by 2016, of which at least 20,000 will be for social rent. When Parliament passed the Budget (Scotland) Bill in February, I set out plans to invest £859 million in affordable housing over the period 2012-13 to 2014-15. I will revise those provisions today.

Over the three years to 2014-15, we now plan to invest not £859 million but £970 million. In 2015-16, we will invest a further £390 million. I therefore confirm to Parliament that, over the four years to 2015-16, the Government will drive investment in affordable housing of more than £1.35 billion. Together with the other elements of our programme, we will secure total investment of more than £8 billion in Scotland's infrastructure over the next two years.

The budget takes action to boost employment, create economic opportunities and enhance business confidence. Our plans are supported by the unique opportunities that will be presented next year, when Scotland will welcome visitors from around the world to the Commonwealth games, the Ryder cup and the second year of homecoming. We will invest £24 million in 2015-16

to establish a national performance centre that will help us to sustain the legacy of the Commonwealth games.

Those events will benefit Scottish businesses. We are taking significant steps to support private sector growth and to ensure that we offer the most business-friendly environment in the UK. All our communities benefit from the small business bonus scheme and the most generous set of business rates reliefs in the UK, which are worth more than £560 million each year. Our enterprise bodies will support business growth, including through the Scottish Investment Bank and the small and medium-sized enterprises growth fund, and we will resource innovative measures to encourage a new age of entrepreneurship across Scotland.

Digital technologies offer huge potential to improve productivity and open up new markets. The budget confirms a range of investment in digital technologies, including more than £280 million in two major contracts with BT to ensure that 95 per cent of premises in Scotland have access to superfast broadband by the end of 2017-18, which exceeds our earlier target.

The transition to a low-carbon economy is a key theme of our economic strategy. We will provide £200 million over the next two years for schemes such as the national renewables infrastructure fund. Given the impact on investment of uncertainty over UK energy policy, I will extend the renewable energy investment fund by a further year to 2015-16.

In launching the second report on proposals and policies in June, the Minister for Environment and Climate Change told Parliament that we would use the budget to boost investment in meeting our world-leading climate change targets. The budget confirms that we will maintain the sustainable action fund for the next two years; invest an additional £15 million in peatland restoration; deliver more than £50 million of investment in the warm homes fund a full year ahead of previous plans, which will enable faster progress to be made in delivering greater energy efficiency; and work with the private sector to secure around £200 million for measures to tackle fuel poverty.

The budget also confirms that we will deliver around £40 million of investment in sustainable transport through the future transport fund over the next two years. We will increase funding to support active travel. That will see an additional £20 million being invested in cycling compared with the last budget. In total, our support for active travel over the next two years compared with the last two years will rise from around £40 million to around £60 million.

A focus on education and training is fundamental to our efforts to support the economy and create the conditions for growth. We will 25,000 extend funding for the modern apprenticeships per year into 2015-16. We will continue to fund opportunities for all, which guarantees support for all of Scotland's 16 to 19year-olds who are not currently in education, employment or training. Free higher education will continue for Scottish students as part of annual investment of more than £1 billion in the sector.

In addition, the budget secures the position of our colleges for the remainder of the parliamentary session. In February, I confirmed to Parliament that we would provide resource funding of £522 million for colleges in 2013-14 and maintain that level in 2014-15. The budget delivers on that commitment, but it also goes further. I confirm that the colleges resource budget will increase to £526 million in 2015-16, which will enable it to support full-time courses and to equip Scotland's students for the world of work.

We will act to remove barriers to the labour market, particularly for women. We will invest more than £190 million in the next two years to fund the Children and Young People (Scotland) Bill. That will provide an additional 125 hours of early learning and childcare for all three and fouryear-olds, and looked-after two-year-olds, which will be worth around £700 to a family. Real practical help is being offered to hard-pressed families who are making their way in the world.

Our support for households is an integral part of our support for the economy. It is an approach that is in line with the values of the people of Scotland and which demonstrates the priority that we attach to helping the most vulnerable.

Despite the financial pressures that we face, I can give a clear and unequivocal commitment that national health service prescriptions, eye tests and personal care will remain free; that the concessionary bus travel scheme will be maintained; that the education maintenance allowance—and, from 2014-15, a minimum income for students—will be available; and that access to higher education will remain based firmly on the ability to learn, not the ability to pay.

Our public services are vital to the people of Scotland. We value the NHS, just as we believe that local government should be properly funded to deliver local services. In delivering in full the Barnett consequentials for the NHS revenue budget in 2014-15 and 2015-16, the draft budget secures continuing improvement in the quality of service that the NHS provides.

In England, the Chancellor of the Exchequer's austerity drive has seen the local government settlement hit with a real-terms cut of 18.6 per cent

since 2012-13. That reduction is passed on to Scotland through the Barnett formula. In contrast, local authorities in Scotland will see their resource funding from the Scottish Government maintained in 2014-15 and 2015-16, which will enable them to maintain teacher numbers in line with pupil numbers and to deliver the council tax freeze, just as the Government promised that it would do.

As well as protecting our vital public services, we are intensifying our approach to public service reform. Alongside the draft budget, I am publishing an agreement on joint working, which places clear expectations on the public sector to work together to ensure that resourcing decisions are focused on the local priorities of each community planning partnership and that budgets are shared.

In 2014-15, we will fully fund the three change funds that were announced in the spending review, thereby supporting efforts to reshape care for older people, to drive progress in the early years and to reduce reoffending. We will support the crucial role that the third sector can play in each of those areas.

Next year, we will invest £8.5 million in the fourth year of the early years change fund, and we will extend for a further year the reducing reoffending change fund, which is helping to deliver the lowest reconviction rate in 14 years. We will build on the reshaping care for older people fund by allocating £100 million through NHS boards, which will be accessible to local authorities, the third sector and others, to drive the shift towards prevention in 2015-16.

We will also deploy £20 million to support national initiatives, meaning that we will invest \pounds 120 million in 2015-16 to assist the integration of adult health and social care services.

Our public services and reform programme depend on the hard work of public sector workers. Since 2010, they have been subject to pay restraint. I am publishing today a pay policy for 2014-15 and 2015-16 that sets out distinct differences from the approach that has been taken by Westminster, particularly in relation to low-paid workers.

We will implement the Scottish living wage and we will uprate it annually. We will increase the minimum uplift in basic pay for employees who earn less than £21,000 from £250 to £300 each year. As a result, some staff will receive increases of up to 2 per cent. We also flatly reject the chancellor's threat to end pay progression. The Scottish Government will retain our existing policy, leaving public sector employers with the discretion to reach their own agreement with staff and trade unions and to do so outside the 1 per cent cap that will apply to basic pay increases. The costs of Westminster's approach to public finances are increasingly borne by the most vulnerable in our society. From 2010 to 2015, its cuts to welfare benefits will take an estimated £4.5 billion out of the Scottish economy, widening the gap between rich and poor. The Scottish Government has neither the legal powers nor the financial resources to meet every cut or to mitigate all the damage done by Westminster.

Last year, I announced that, working with our partners in local government, we would act to protect over 500,000 people in receipt of council tax benefit who would otherwise have struggled to pay their bills each month as a result of a Westminster decision to cut funding for successor arrangements to council tax benefit by 10 per cent. In 2014-15, the Scottish Government will again contribute £23 million to mitigate the funding gap, and we propose to continue to work with our partners in local government to bring that support up to £40 million. That will ensure that we are able to maintain support for vulnerable groups through our council tax reduction scheme.

In 2013-14, we set up the Scottish welfare fund and provided funding for one year. As people continue to struggle, I can confirm that we will maintain the fund at £33 million in both 2014-15 and 2015-16. We have already provided funding of £7.9 million for advice services to meet the additional demand that Westminster's cuts have caused, with £2.5 million to help social landlords to provide support to those who are affected by the bedroom tax. We will provide a further £2.5 million to build the capacity of local communities and the voluntary sector to respond to the worst effects of welfare reform.

This Government will use the resources that we have—resources intended for devolved public services—to invest £68 million in each of the next two years to limit the damage of Westminster's welfare cuts.

Today, the United Nations special rapporteur, who is investigating housing in the United Kingdom, has called for the bedroom tax to be abolished

"in light of its dire impacts".

We agree, and with independence we will abolish the bedroom tax. In the interim, we will continue to press the UK Government to abolish the tax and to increase the support for those who are hardest hit. We do not have legal or financial powers over welfare benefits, but neither are we a Government that will walk by on the other side.

Last week, Shelter Scotland put forward a proposition that focused on the problems that people are facing as a result of the bedroom tax. The start of next year's budget would be too late for many of those who are currently struggling to

make ends meet. I intend to take immediate steps to deal with the iniquitous effect of the bedroom tax. I have considered Shelter's proposal and looked at what capacity there is in this year's budget to meet that need. Using resources from savings in my own enterprise portfolio budget and underspend on home energy efficiency in the fuel poverty budget that was caused by delays with UK energy schemes, I can confirm that the Scottish Government will invest up to £20 million this financial year to help those who are struggling the most with the costs of the bedroom tax. That funding will enable local authorities to add to their own provisions to increase discretionary housing payments to meet some of the implications of the bedroom tax.

Our action on the bedroom tax shows the values and priorities that matter in the Parliament. Where Westminster decisions have cut spending, this budget supports investment and job creation. Where Westminster decisions have reduced incomes, this budget delivers a social wage that Where Westminster supports our people. decisions are driving the privatisation of public services, this budget protects our NHS. When Westminster targets the most vulnerable as part of its austerity drive, we will do all that we can to protect them.

This budget makes clear the benefits of decisions being made in Scotland by those who care most about our future. That is the opportunity that is on offer to the people of Scotland in 2014.

I commend the budget to Parliament.

The Presiding Officer: We now move to questions on issues that were raised in the cabinet secretary's statement. I intend to allow about 40 minutes for questions and answers, after which we will move on to the next item of business.

lain Gray (East Lothian) (Lab): I thank the cabinet secretary for the early sight of his statement. Indeed, even earlier than that, the cabinet secretary had sent his spin doctors out to brief that the budget would be a budget for independence: honesty, at last.

We then heard that an extra 10,000 Scots and an extra 32,000 young Scots have just joined the dole queues. Even the cabinet secretary realised that a budget for independence was the wrong priority, so he dropped the slogan, but it is the same budget. It is a budget for independence—a "Don't rock the referendum boat" budget for a Scotland that is at a standstill and on pause. It is the wrong priority.

Yesterday, a committee of the Parliament heard first hand about the hardship that is faced by tenants who are victims of the bedroom tax. I agree with the cabinet secretary on the iniquity of the bedroom tax, but I think that those tenants' priority might have been a budget that would banish that tax from Scotland. Instead, Mr Swinney has found less than half the funds that are needed for the bedroom tax this year in order to hide the fact that his budget has no provision at all to help next year. That means that councils will have to prioritise between "deserving" and "undeserving" victims of the bedroom tax. Those are the wrong priorities. There is currently no promise of further help next year.

This is the first draft of Mr Swinney's budget. Will he take the budget for independence away and bring back a real budget for jobs that will banish the bedroom tax from Scotland this year, next year and the year after that, as well?

John Swinney: I always find myself pointing out the fundamental incoherence of the arguments that Iain Gray puts forward. I do not understand how Scotland can be "on pause" when we have taken action to do what we can within our powers to deal with and tackle the bedroom tax. Iain Gray would serve his party better by unreservedly welcoming what the Government has set out today. The reason why there is no provision in the 2014-15 budget for dealing with the bedroom tax is that I have absolutely no intention of letting the Westminster Government off the hook in 2014-15. It is the Westminster Government that has legislated for the bedroom tax.

On whether the Labour Party is committed to getting rid of the bedroom tax, I watched two television programmes on Thursday night: one Labour spokesman said yes and the other said no. So, before the Labour Party comes here and tries to lecture me about the bedroom tax, I suggest that it gets some coherence into its argument and backs us in the steps that we are taking to tackle the iniquitous effect of the bedroom tax on the people of Scotland.

Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con): I, too, thank the cabinet secretary for advance sight of his statement. Today's budget should have been about the economy—particularly on a day when we find out that 10,000 more people are unemployed in Scotland.

However, as far as the economy is concerned, this is a budget that has both underpromised and underdelivered. There has been some encouraging news on the economy over the past couple of weeks. That, coupled with today's announcement, means that there should have been a direct focus on the economy in the budget.

So, why does the cabinet secretary penalise business? Tucked away at the back of his budget document, on page 163, is the information that business rates will go up from £2.4 billion this year to over £2.8 billion in 2015-16, which means almost £460 million extra coming out of the

pockets of business. Is that an example of the benefits of decision making being done here? How does he explain that on top of the retail levy and the empty property tax that he brought in?

The cabinet secretary talked about colleges. They used to get \pounds 560 million; this year, they will get \pounds 522 million. That is a pretty big drop. However, because the amount will go up to \pounds 526 million the year after that, he says in his document that the "funding floor" has been increased. How on earth does going from \pounds 560 million to \pounds 526 million amount to an increase?

How does the cabinet secretary justify, in these difficult economic times, giving £115 million to Scottish Water in 2014-15 and £120 million in 2015-16? That £235 million could be far better spent on capital projects across Scotland. Today's budget is a big disappointment. If it was a film, it would have gone straight to DVD.

John Swinney: If that was meant to be funny, it did not impress anybody. I think Mr Brown will have to keep practising.

I find Mr Brown's narrative on the economy quite surprising, because I went through with considerable care in my statement some objective data, from the 12 months since I last delivered a budget to Parliament, on the performance of the Scottish economy.

I will just reinforce the point. Scottish GDP is growing at a higher rate than that of the rest of the United Kingdom, employment here is at a higher rate than that in the rest of the United Kingdom, unemployment here is lower than that in the rest of the United Kingdom, and the youth employment rate here is higher than that of the rest of the United Kingdom. Further, a Bank of Scotland purchasing managers' index that was published on Monday was-I thought-a very encouraging indication of the attitudes of people in the business community to conditions in the Scottish economy. I would therefore have thought that with all that evidence, Mr Brown would have given due credence to the fact that the Government's economic strategy is having the effect that we set out 12 months ago it would have in the circumstances.

On the question of business rates, I simply ask Mr Brown whether he has forgotten about the concept of inflation. Business rates are uprated every September, in line with inflation. If he needs an explanation about the increased business-rate take that is happening in Scotland and wants a comparator for that, he need look only at the rest of the United Kingdom, where business rates are rising in largely the same kind of fashion, because of the inflation uplift, as is happening in Scotland. On colleges, Mr Brown frequently comes to Parliament and argues that we should reform the public sector. When we do that, what does Mr Brown do? He complains about it. When we are saving money as a consequence of reforming the college sector, while still providing the same fulltime equivalents and the courses that people require to get into the labour market, I do not know what he is complaining about.

Finally, on Scottish Water, I know that sometimes when Mr Brown comes to Parliament he is driven by the ideological arguments of his side of the debate. There is an ideological argument for privatising Scottish Water, but I do not accept it. I am on the other side of the argument, because I look at the benefits that customers the length and breadth of Scotland have experienced through improvements in the quality of service and reductions in cost, which are good for the charge payers here in Scotland. We have the right approach and strategy, and the enormous capital investment that is happening the length and breadth of the country, not least in the city of Glasgow, which the Deputy First Minister represents, is a tribute to the capital investment programme of Scottish Water.

Kenneth Gibson (Cunninghame North) (SNP): I welcome the cabinet secretary's statement and the £68 million that the SNP Government will allocate in each of the next two years to mitigate the adverse impact of welfare reform. It is clear that the Government is working hard within its limited powers to protect the most vulnerable Scots from UK Government welfare policy.

The Presiding Officer: Can we have a question, Mr Gibson?

Kenneth Gibson: I ask the cabinet secretary whether any party has put to him specific proposals to increase funding in relation to welfare and, if so, whether that party has indicated how such an increase would be funded, bearing it in mind that such a proposal must be accompanied by a reduction within the same portfolio.

John Swinney: As always, Mr Gibson, as the convener of the Finance Committee, gets right to the heart of the matter by asking people the hard question about where the money will come from in order that we can afford the propositions that they bring forward.

Mr Gray is correct; this is a draft budget and it is here for discussion. We are perfectly happy to have that discussion, as I have done with parties every year in the parliamentary budget process. However, it is important that when people want us to spend money on different and additional priorities, they come here and tell us where the money will come from to do that. Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD):

thank the finance secretary for early sight of his statement. He knows that we will work with him in a constructive way to amend his budget.

Remarkably, in his statement today he made no mention of the rise in unemployment. Instead, he calls it a budget for independence. It has the wrong priorities and contains the wrong choices, and it is an inadequate response.

Let us look at colleges. Since 2009, 80,000 parttime places have been cut, but his budget goes nowhere near repairing that damage. Fewer businesses in Scotland have apprenticeships than anywhere else in the United Kingdom. The UK Government's £2,000 cut in national insurance should be promoted by the Scottish Government in order to recruit more apprentices.

I have repeatedly been disappointed by the finance secretary's stubborn refusal to adopt our costed plans for 24,000 families with two-year-old children. The Education and Culture Committee heard yesterday about the benefits that that could deliver for families.

On colleges, apprentices and two-year-olds, will the finance secretary agree to look again at his plans?

John Swinney: Again, I am a bit surprised by Mr Rennie's observations about unemployment. The explanation that I give on the unemployment situation today is this: if colleagues look at the detail of the statistics, there is a substantial fall in economic inactivity in Scotland and people have gone back into the labour market as a result of being successful in securing employment. A large number have not been successful, but over 12 months, unemployment is down by 19,000. I would have thought that that would be welcomed. Indeed, the Secretary of State for Scotland-who, the last time I looked, was a colleague of Mr Rennie's-welcomed the unemployment position in Scotland today. Perhaps Mr Moore is slightly more authoritative than Mr Rennie on such questions.

On college places, I make the same point that I made to Mr Brown. We have maintained the fulltime equivalent numbers because the courses that we are supporting and providing in the college sector are designed to enable people to get back into employment. That is why we have had a rise in employment in Scotland and that is why we have had a fall in unemployment over the past 12 months.

I just announced the extension into 2015-16 of funding for 25,000 modern apprenticeships. Such things become familiar because the Government keeps delivering them, but when Mr Rennie's colleagues left office and we came into office there were not 25,000, but 16,000 modern apprenticeships. We have increased the number substantially and have sustained that increase over many years.

schemes, promoting UK Т On work collaboratively with the Secretary of State for Scotland on such promotion in the Scottish employability forum. I am unaware of any complaint from him about how the Scottish Government supports joint working on employment. In fact, after last week's employability forum meeting, the Secretary of State for Scotland issued a tweet about how constructive his meeting with me at the forum had been. I was delighted to see his little tweet, which was more encouraging than Mr Rennie's question.

On childcare, the Government has just announced a significant expansion in provision, with funding of \pounds 190 million. Does not Mr Rennie have the good grace today in Parliament to welcome that investment?

The Presiding Officer: Before I call Jenny Marra, I should say that 16 members want to ask questions of the finance secretary. I want to get through them all, so I give members some guidance: cut out the preamble and ask one question. That way, we will get through everyone. If members do not do that, they will disadvantage their colleagues.

Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): Presiding Officer, let me tell the cabinet secretary—[*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Can we just get a question, Ms Marra?

Jenny Marra: Who thinks that Scotland is on pause? Is it the 32,000 extra young people who have become unemployed this summer? What is the cabinet secretary's budget doing to address that?

John Swinney: The Government's budget is providing 25,000 modern apprenticeships. As I just said to Mr Rennie, that is a significantly higher number than we inherited from the Government that Ms Marra would have supported all those years ago, and which was defeated in 2007. We have also put in place the opportunities for all guarantee, which assures every 16 to 19-year-old of a training or education opportunity, if they have been unable to find such an opportunity.

That is what the Government is doing to support young people. We are putting in place steps and measures that ensure that young people can access the labour market and fulfil their potential.

Aileen McLeod (South Scotland) (SNP): We know now that a majority of Scots want the Scottish Parliament to have control of decisions over the economy and welfare**The Presiding Officer:** Can we have a question, please?

Aileen McLeod: Will the finance secretary say what he would have been able to do differently with the budget if he had had those powers?

John Swinney: Aileen McLeod made an important point about the flexibility and powers that we would have if we were an independent country. For one thing, we would not have legislated to have the bedroom tax; we would never have brought that forward. Secondly, the Scottish Government would have taken a different approach to capital expenditure from that which the UK Government is taking, in order that we could have ensured that we did not have the economic difficulties—extended as they have been—that have resulted from the current UK Government's failed economic policies. Those are just two examples of what the Government would have done.

James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab): Can the cabinet secretary confirm that the cut in rail services that is detailed on page 128 of the draft budget is the result of the delay to the Edinburgh to Glasgow rail improvement project that was identified in the recent Audit Scotland report, "Scotland's key transport infrastructure projects"?

John Swinney: There is no change to the capital programme in relation to EGIP or what the Government has announced previously. The funding settlement in the budget provides fully and adequately for the Government to support financially the running of rail services in Scotland, and to invest in the programmes to which we have committed.

Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP): Will the finance secretary join me in welcoming today's Office for National Statistics figures, which show that Scotland—

The Presiding Officer: Can we have a question, Mr Brodie?

Chic Brodie: I am coming to it, Presiding Officer.

The ONS figures show that Scotland has higher youth employment than the UK. Does the cabinet secretary agree that that is further proof that the Scottish Government is doing the best that it can do with the economic powers that it has, and that only a yes vote next September will give Scotland the chance to break away from the Chancellor of the Exchequer's austerity programme?

John Swinney: I tried in my statement to give Parliament some dispassionate context based on factual information about what has happened since I last came to Parliament with a budget 12 months ago, when I said that my priority was to improve economic conditions in Scotland. Twelve months on, any dispassionate observer of the statistics that I have given to Parliament would see that the Government has made progress. It is not the end of the journey; it is what the Government is able to do.

Of course, if we had the full range of economic and fiscal powers—

Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab): Oh!

John Swinney: If we had those powers we would—I say to Mr McNeil—be able to do a great deal more than the Government is able to do with the constraints under which we operate today.

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): This year, the UK Government cut the budget by £107 million immediately before it was implemented. Has there been any explanation about that and any guarantee that it will not happen again next year?

John Swinney: Mr Mason will be aware that during the financial year 2013-14, we have had an in-year reduction in our budget. That has never happened in any year in which I have been the finance minister; when I think about it, I cannot imagine that it has ever happened under devolution. The UK Government also applied a reduction of £125 million in our resource budget in 2014-15.

I decided that I would not pass on any of the financial impact of that to local government in Scotland, so the local government settlement that I proposed in 2013-14—which I have set out as an indicative plan, for example, for 2014-15—has been fulfilled by the statement that I have made to Parliament today. That is the appropriate way for us to deal with such questions.

As for guarantees about future reductions, I can make no such guarantees. It has happened already and I cannot rule out its happening again. It is clear from the spending round announcement in late June that there will be further reductions in public expenditure in 2016-17 and 2017-18.

Neil Bibby (West Scotland) (Lab): Mr Swinney said that he is increasing the budget for colleges in 2015-16. Will he confirm whether that represents a real-terms cut to college funding in 2015-16?

John Swinney: If Mr Bibby will recall, I gave a guarantee to the Parliament that a funding arrangement of £522 million would be put in place for 2013-14 and 2014-15. I have fulfilled the terms of my commitment and I have increased that to £526 million in 2015-16. Mr Bibby would be well served to welcome the increased resources that the Government is putting into the college sector.

Maureen Watt (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP): Can the cabinet secretary

confirm that the Scottish Government will continue its commitment to 1,000 extra police officers on the street, helping to deliver record low levels of

John Swinney: That remains a commitment of the Government. The visible and strong police presence around the country has contributed significantly to the reduction in crime levels in Scotland. The Government's commitment is fulfilled by the financial settlement that we have put in place as part of the budget today.

Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab): Will the cabinet secretary explain why, in the sections of his speech on economic recovery and support for business, he omitted to mention that the enterprise, energy and tourism budget will decline from £479 million this year to £444 million next year? Since our next debate is about enterprise bodies, will he tell us how the focus of those bodies will be affected for good or ill by the transfer of £41.8 million from resource to capital?

John Swinney: The budget line that Mr Chisholm refers to contains the expenditure on the enterprise networks and on energy projects. As I explained in my statement, I have extended the national renewables investment fund for an extra 12 months because of the fact that it has been difficult to get renewable energy projects agreed as a result of the uncertainty over UK energy policy.

The factor that accounts for the decline in the budget in 2014-15 that Mr Chisholm highlights essentially arises out of a change to the energy line within that overall line. The enterprise networks are broadly consistent between 2013-14 and 2014-15. There is an increase in energy expenditure in 2015-16 representing the fact that projects are taking longer to be agreed because of the uncertainty over UK energy policy.

In relation to the wider role of the enterprise networks, as I am sure that Mr Ewing will set out in the next debate this afternoon, they are focused in a positive way on providing support to the company sector for the development of companies and to ensure that the Government's objectives on internationalising business, on securing the opportunities in the low-carbon economy and on the work in the key sectors—about which we saw some good evidence this week in relation to the success of the food and drink sector—can be fulfilled.

Annabelle Ewing (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP): The savings that are being delivered by the Queensferry crossing project are welcome. Can the cabinet secretary expand on the continued opportunities for local businesses as part of this vital infrastructure project for the kingdom of Fife, and can he provide some detail on how the savings could be reallocated?

John Swinney: The revised estimates that we published arose out of the fact that the project is progressing well and that the contract was structured around a level of contingency risk that ran alongside a fixed-price contract. As the elements of risk are being addressed and dealt with—as I saw yesterday at the Queensferry crossing—we are able to release those savings, and our latest estimate is that the savings will total £145 million.

We have, of course, allocated some of those resources already, in two tranches totalling £45 million. Other reallocations have been undertaken to support the infrastructure priorities of the Government, which, of course, extend across a range of areas, particularly the very substantive push to the housing sector, which I am sure is welcomed around the country.

Mary Scanlon (Highlands and Islands) (Con): The college sector pension deficit was £115 million last year—an increase of 93 per cent on the previous year and more than 10 times the deficit in 2007. What assurances can the cabinet secretary give to staff in the college sector who are, rightly, concerned about their pensions?

John Swinney: The issues in relation to the management of college pensions are entirely a matter for the governing bodies of individual colleges, which must exercise prudential judgment and management around the sustainability of the pension funds. That is their responsibility, constitutionally.

Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab): Although there is some additional funding for peatland and active travel, what assurances can the cabinet secretary give that all the proposals and policies in the second report on proposals and policies that are relevant to this budget are fully costed, so that we can move forward incrementally, and that he has secured further funding for the carbon assessment tool, so that a more effective carbon assessment of the budget can be conducted to include second-round emissions?

John Swinney: I did not refer to it in my statement, but the carbon assessment of the 2014-15 budget has been published. Patrick Harvie and I have discussed this issue several times over the years. It is an innovative area of making policy and assessment, so the Government is open to suggestions from across the chamber about how we can strengthen the carbon assessment of the budget. The approach is getting stronger and more effective over time. However, as I said, I am happy to engage in discussions about how we can strengthen that.

crime?

On the issue of financial commitments and policy commitments, the commitments that I have set out in the budget are the funding commitments of the Scottish Government; they emerge out of the report on proposals and policies. Of course, Paul Wheelhouse told the Parliament that the Government would boost the financial support for RPP measures, and that is exactly what we have done this afternoon.

Patrick Harvie (Glasgow) (Green): If the Government intends to raise active travel up its agenda, which would be welcome after the many tragedies that we have seen, what are we to make of the fact that the statement commits £60 million to active travel over the next two years while the budget line on sustainable and active travel commits only £44 million, along with other opaque budget lines such as the future transport fund line? Is it not time for a single, clear and transparent budget line on active travel, so that everybody who is looking at these documents knows what the Government intends to spend public money on?

John Swinney: I have some sympathy with the position that Mr Harvie articulates. I accept that, in the budget documents, elements of expenditure can appear in different policy areas. I have to try to manage a balance between that and ensuring that the Parliament can see the structure of the budget on a comparative basis year by year in a fashion that the Parliament generally believes to be acceptable. The portfolio approach is, by agreement with the Finance Committee, the way in which the budget should be set out.

On other occasions and in light of the point that Mr Harvie has raised with me, I am happy to marshal some of the information in a clearer fashion that identifies the support that is in place on cycling, to provide it to him and to place it in the Scottish Parliament information centre, because elements of budgets that come in from different portfolios contribute to a stronger, better and more effective approach on cycling than in the previous provisions that I brought to the Parliament.

I acknowledged and accepted that we needed to do more to encourage cycling. We have done that in the budget and I will happily share the evidence and analysis with Mr Harvie and the Parliament.

Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): The cabinet secretary pointed out that Westminster is imposing a cut of more than 18 per cent on local government south of the border. I welcome the fact that the Scottish Government recognises the need to protect local services. Will he expand on how local government spending is being protected in the budget, including through additional funding for early years provision?

John Swinney: The Government has set out the funding priority that it attaches to early years

education. The measures that we have in place to extend the number of hours of early years education and support that three and four-yearolds, and looked-after two-year-olds, are able to access are an important part of ensuring that the provision is in place.

We will also look at working with our local authority partners on the implementation of the Children and Young People (Scotland) Bill to find the best and most effective way to ensure that that investment can be deployed to create the two outcomes that I suggested: improved early learning opportunities for young people and encouraging greater participation in the labour market by more and more women.

Anne McTaggart (Glasgow) (Lab): The budget represents another significant real-terms reduction in the resource grant for local government. Will that not inevitably result in more job losses on top of the 37,000 jobs already lost under this Government?

John Swinney: I can appreciate the issues that Anne McTaggart raises. I simply point out to her that local government in Scotland has been treated fairly by the Scottish Government compared to local government south of the border. Until 2012-13, the Government had received an increase in its budget of about 6.4 per cent and local government got an increase of 8.9 per cent. That indicates that local government did better out of the budget than the Scottish Government did.

Of course, Anne McTaggart is free to argue that local government should get more money, so I look forward to the Labour Party making a budget proposal that says how much more money local government will get. However, I gently point out that, every year that the Labour Party has come to the Parliament and complained about the level of funding for local government, it has never, in private to me or as part of the budget negotiations, advanced an argument for giving local government more money. I look forward to that changing this year, but I point out that, in all the years that I have been finance minister, the Labour Party has never asked me to give more money to local government as part of the budget negotiations.

Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab): Will the cabinet secretary provide the Parliament with further information on what is included in the 5 per cent cap on his revenue-funded investment programme? For example, would the local authority contribution to an NPD schools project be included in that 5 per cent cap?

John Swinney: Comprehensive information is available in the budget document. I have put two new annexes into the budget document that give a whole host of information. Annex A starts on page 168 and annex B starts on page 171 and there is substantive information that sets out what is in the Government's 5 per cent framework. I certainly would be very happy to discuss those issues with the Parliament, but the information is in the budget document.

Margo MacDonald (Lothian) (Ind): I was glad to hear the cabinet secretary give such a wholehearted endorsement of the public ownership of water. Could we have a hint in the next draft of the budget as to how he feels about the ownership of the renewables industries that are now being developed? Will they also be in public ownership?

John Swinney: One of the aspects of the legislative changes that we are bringing forward in relation to the water industry is to enable Scottish Water to be a more active player in the development of renewable energy measures. As a consequence of Scottish Water's ownership by the Government, those investments will clearly be part of the public assets of the Scottish Government. In that respect, I can give Margo MacDonald some comfort.

Clearly, a lot of other investment in the renewable energy sector is undertaken by private companies. The Government has no proposals to change that arrangement, but having a strong and positive policy framework that supports the development of the renewable energy industry in Scotland is a strong advantage for the Government of Scotland.

Jim Eadie (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP): Does the cabinet secretary agree that the additional £20 million investment in cycling will be widely welcomed by cycling organisations throughout Scotland? That increase is not an accident but has come about as a result of a Government that is willing to listen and act upon the concerns that were expressed by cyclists in Scotland.

John Swinney: I appreciate Mr Eadie's comments. Mr Eadie has been vociferous-along with Alison Johnstone-when coming to see me about cycling and cycling investment issues and I am glad that we have been able to make some progress on that question in the budget settlement. There are opportunities for us to ensure that that money is used effectively to strengthen cycling infrastructure in Scotland and I assure the Parliament that ministers will be keen to do so as part of the discussions around the budaet and the implementation of the commitments that we have made.

Enterprise Networks

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is a debate on motion S4M-07643, in the name of Fergus Ewing, on enterprise networks. I call Fergus Ewing to speak to and move the motion. You have 13 minutes, minister.

15:39

The Minister for Energy, Enterprise and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): I warmly welcome the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and Sustainable Growth's announcement on the budget. As he outlined, the Government continues to make sound financial investments in Scotland's future despite the on-going and unprecedented tight budget settlements that are being handed to us by the Westminster Parliament.

We can see positive signs of global economic recovery gaining traction, such as growth in emerging markets. We have also had recent positive developments in the Scottish economy. For example, youth unemployment has fallen by 2 per cent over the year and there have been positive business surveys, such as the Ernst and Young 2013 United Kingdom attractiveness survey, which showed that, in two of the past three years, Scotland has been the top-ranked country or region outside London for securing foreign direct investment—FDI—projects. In 2012. Scotland's FDI projects were up by nearly a half from 2011 to 76 projects, which is the highest number in 15 years, whereas the number of FDI projects that most English regions, excluding London, secured declined in 2012. Investments in England outside London were 24 per cent below their 2010 level, a decline that has coincided with the closure of the regional development agencies and the switch to local enterprise partnerships. In contrast, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland recorded large rises.

Our performance and economic recovery can be clearly linked to the actions that we have taken. We are investing decisively in Scotland's economic growth. We are working through our enterprise and skills agencies and closely with our partners in local government to support businesses to help them grow, internationalise and export, while helping our people to take advantage of the opportunities that will follow. For example, a Ross-shire business that began life in a garden shed has signed a deal with China's largest online training provider. The directors and founders of Dingwall-based TEFL Scotland, Joe and Jennifer Hallwood, who now employ 13 staff, will be working with the Zhi Bo Hong Yuan Co Ltd-I hope that I have pronounced that correctly-to develop and promote distance and classroom

training as well as international cultural exchanges for English teachers across China.

The role of our enterprise agencies is a key element of the distinctive approach that we take in Scotland. Their work in supporting Scottish businesses aims to increase exports and productivity and to ensure that Scotland continues to have sustainable economic growth. Α comparison with recent developments south of the border, where the coalition Government has abolished the regional development agencies, shows that our approach is the right one. Further, we understand that the return on investment for every £1 spent by the enterprise network is approximately £6. Scottish Enterprise anticipates that, over the next decade, the net additional return on gross value added from its proposals will be about £5.75 billion.

Some of those statistics are estimates, so they might be right and they might be wrong, but it is clear that, overall, the performance thus far has been strong, and we are reasonably entitled to assume that the agencies remain on the right track and that their performance will be equally good in future.

Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD): While the minister is on the subject of statistics, one statistic that his Government is using at the moment is that 75 per cent of people in the Highlands and Islands will benefit from the investment in broadband upgrades that is to take place next year and the year after. However, does he accept that it is more important to invest in the 25 per cent of households and businesses that do not have access to broadband or that are on dialup speeds? Will he bring his office to bear on that subject, rather than just ensuring that those who already have broadband get something better?

Fergus Ewing: Tavish Scott raises a significant point that takes up a lot of time and consideration. I recently met with the Highlands and Islands Enterprise team that is involved in the broadband exercise and with representatives of BT. The issue is close to the heart of all HIE officials, as they are all citizens, too. As Tavish Scott well knows, particularly in tourism, it is difficult for a business to be successful if it is not on broadband. Ten years ago, broadband might have been a luxury or add-on, but now it is a sine qua non of success, if I may use a Latin phrase, so we will certainly be pursuing those matters.

Our success has been recognised in not altogether likely places. The *Financial Times* ran an editorial that said:

"The 'Team Scotland' approach adopted by the devolved Holyrood government and its enterprise agencies has helped to attract high-profile investments over the past year in spite of the tough economic environment ... While parts of England are still struggling to adjust to the abolition of the regional development agencies, Scotland has benefited from stability and continuity offered by Scottish Enterprise".

In October 2012, following a regional analysis report into UK public expenditure, one of the report's authors said:

"An investor looking at the North East"

-the north-east of England, that is-

"has to traipse round the whole of the North East knocking on a variety of doors. They go up to Scotland, they go and see Scottish Enterprise, it sorts out grants for the land, it sorts out grants for training, it sorts out all of the support that they require and that obviously makes it a whole lot easier for them."

Scottish business supports our approach, too. Iain Pitman, the chairman of Arran Aromatics, said that his company has

"enjoyed fantastic support from Highland & Islands Enterprise, Scottish Enterprise and Scottish Development International over the past years and we hope these positive working relationships will continue to support further international growth and help take Arran Aromatics from a £5.2m business to a truly global brand."

The role of account management is important, and I want to showcase that in the debate, with-I hope—support from colleagues across the political spectrum. Scottish Enterprise works with businesses, approximately 10,000 Scottish providing support to help them to grow through innovation, access to finance, exporting, leadership and other key business support areas.

More than 2,000 of those companies are account managed, which ensures an approach that is focused on and targeted at those that can deliver the greatest growth. It makes sense to focus the greatest attention—and taxpayers' cash—on those companies that have been identified as having the greatest growth capacity. Plainly, we cannot support every company with grants, so we have used that method of prioritisation, and I hope that we can, together, endorse that methodology once again today.

Over the period from 2008-09 to 2011-12, it is estimated that 1,120 companies took part in the evaluation. They achieved a net additional increase in turnover of £1.45 billion, contributing net additional gross value added of £575 million to the Scottish economy. Multiplier effects through supply chains and spending by employees are estimated to have contributed an additional £535 million GVA. The total net additional GVA over the period is therefore estimated at £1.1 billion—£1,100 million—which was generated as a result of account management activity. That is pretty significant.

Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): I am grateful to the minister for giving way. We heard some interesting evidence this morning at the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee—I am referring not to the minister's evidence, which was interesting in itself, but to the evidence that we heard later from those who are involved in the entrepreneurial arena on the question of accountmanaged companies.

The witnesses were full of praise for Scottish Enterprise and account-managed companies, but they said that there was an issue with the selection of companies for the programme. Would the minister care to tell us something about how that process might be improved? It is very easy to say that we should select the companies with the greatest potential, but who does the selection, and how does the minister ensure that he always gets the right people into the pipeline?

Fergus Ewing: That is a perfectly valid point, and I am keen—or at least willing—to look at the process again. Plainly, any gatekeeper process must be fixed and certain; if it is too vague, it is not much use. On the one hand, fixing an amount of turnover is open to criticism for being arbitrary which it is; on the other hand, that gives an element of certainty and clarity, so that endless arguments do not arise about who is entitled to be in and who is not.

That said, turnover is not the only yardstick. Some companies with no record of profits and growth in turnover—in the area of life sciences, for example—are accepted for account management where they plainly have a potentially world-beating product. There is, therefore, an element of flexibility.

This is perhaps not the time to go into all the details, but I am happy to work with members in all parties to look at the issue. My feeling is that we have got the process right, but if there has been criticism from business in committee this morning, my officials will look at that evidence. I am happy to come back to members if they have any specific suggestions in that respect.

Over the period of the evaluation, 6,800 net additional direct jobs were created, with 8,330 created through multiplier effects. The total net extra jobs was therefore 15,130—the fact that more than 15,000 people have a job at least in part because of SE's account-management services merits mention in the debate—which suggests a GVA return of around £5 for every £1 of SE spend over the four-year period. Accountmanaged companies currently employ 300,000 people. In the first quarter of 2013, 43 per cent of those companies reported that they had recruited more people, including young people.

Regarding the employers' views of account management, the evaluation found that 90 per cent of the employers were satisfied or very satisfied with the support that they received; 80 per cent did not think that they could find that support elsewhere; 80 per cent said that the support had increased their level of turnover; 40 per cent said that SE support had helped them to increase international sales; 50 per cent said that the support had helped them to enter new international markets; 75 per cent said that their innovation spend had increased as a result of SE support; and 70 per cent reported that their productivity had improved. Those are good results.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): Minister, you are approaching your last minute.

Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): Will the minister take an intervention?

Fergus Ewing: Sorry, I have oodles—to use a non-ministerial technical expression—of my speech left.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am afraid that we are rather tight for time. You are now in your last minute.

Fergus Ewing: Looking north, I should point out that, over the past five years, Highlands and Islands Enterprise has built a portfolio of accounts comprising 596 business and social enterprises in 50 communities. HIE has also achieved great success, as has VisitScotland, to which I will perhaps return in my closing speech.

To conclude, let me pay tribute to every single person who works in our enterprise agencies. I have met a great many of them in my visits with them to companies in all parts of the country—just about—and they do a great job for Scotland. Today is an opportunity for us to thank them, to pay tribute to them and to see how, through positive suggestions, we can perhaps do even better in future.

I move,

That the Parliament notes the challenging economic conditions of recent years, the emerging signs of the global economic recovery and the vital role that Scotland's enterprise agencies play in ensuring that its economy responds to these challenges and opportunities; supports the enterprise agencies in their role of delivering the Scottish Government's purpose of sustainable economic growth, and recognises the importance of the account management and other direct support that they provide to businesses and key sectors across the country to help them grow, create employment, increase exports, boost innovation and help Scotland become more globally competitive.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I call Jenny Marra to speak to and move amendment S4M-07643.1. Ms Marra, you have a maximum of nine minutes.

15:52

Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): Like the minister, I put on record the Labour Party's support for the work of Scottish Enterprise and all our enterprise networks in developing Scotland's businesses and economy. When I had the pleasure of meeting Lorne Crerar of Highlands and Islands Enterprise just a couple of weeks ago, I was impressed to hear about HIE's on-going work and its ambitions for the future.

The evaluation that is the subject of today's debate highlights much of the good work that Scottish Enterprise and our other enterprise agencies undertake and the rewards that they bring to our economy. In particular, the creation of new jobs and the increase in turnover by Scottish companies will be warmly welcomed by members across the chamber. However, it is important to sound a note of caution that we cannot be complacent, especially in the current economic environment. I am sure that the minister would agree with me on that.

The Government's motion rightly points out that Scotland has not been immune to the global recession. With long-term youth unemployment remaining stubbornly high, unemployment among women rising and part-time, temporary or zerohours jobs becoming an increasingly common feature of our economy, we on the Labour benches believe that now is perhaps the right time for the Government to review how our enterprise agencies interact with each other and with local and national Government in order properly to assess how they are delivering against our shared aim of building an economy that is equitable and sustainable and that consists of a skilled workforce doing high-quality jobs under good contracts.

Maureen Watt (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP): What the member has just suggested was very much a feature under the Labour/Liberal Scottish Executive, when Scottish Enterprise had no clear direction. Since the Scottish National Party Government came to power, there has been very clear direction on where Scottish Enterprise should go. Is that not why Scottish Enterprise has been successful?

Jenny Marra: I had hoped to strike a conciliatory note—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order, please. We cannot hear the member.

Jenny Marra: I was about to go on to propose a review of the agencies. Since 1999, Scottish Enterprise has operated effectively, but it has perhaps not always been as effective as we would like.

As I have said, we cannot be complacent; we must ensure that the money that we spend on our enterprise agencies works to its full potential, expands our economy and gets people the best jobs. That is what I am proposing this afternoon. When the Scottish National Party came to power in 2007, it announced reforms to the operation of our enterprise agencies that resulted in a number of changes to Scottish Enterprise's governance and remit, including the transfer of its skills activity and Careers Scotland to Skills Development Scotland and responsibility for business gateway to local authorities. However, since 2007, we have had very little analysis of the effectiveness of those changes, particularly in the light of our challenging economic—[Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Excuse me, Ms Marra, but the conversations that are taking place in the chamber, particularly those behind you, must cease.

Jenny Marra: We need to examine the impact that the reforms have had on workers and business and we believe that now is the right time for a pulse-check.

As well as noting the increased turnover and jobs growth for businesses that are account managed by Scottish Enterprise, the evaluation that was published on Monday also noted that more than 300 companies have been stuck in transition between business gateway and Scottish Enterprise's account-managed process, having been unable to access the intensive support to be able to grow. Although Monday's report concluded that the pipeline is not working as effectively as it could be, it could not say whether the problem lay with the kind of companies that are being put forward or the kind of support that they were being offered. A Government review of its 2007 reforms could help to clarify such identified areas for improvement and make it easier for the right businesses to get the right support.

Our enterprise agencies provide a powerful combination of support for business and support for workers. Although the creation of Skills Development Scotland removed the skills function from Scottish Enterprise, the move was designed to bring even greater focus to providing workers with the knowledge and ability that our industries require. The modern apprenticeship scheme, in particular, was designed to allow the Government to deliver on its youth employment strategy and opportunities for all commitment. However, we know from a report published last week by the Equality and Human Rights Commission that those opportunities could be more equitable. The report concluded that less than 0.5 per cent of modern apprenticeship schemes are being taken up by disabled people in Scotland, despite the fact that 8 per cent of 16 to 24-year-olds have a disability, and that less than 2 per cent of modern apprenticeships are being taken up by ethnic minorities, despite the fact that 4 per cent of 16 to 24-year-olds in Scotland are from an ethnic minority background. Finally, it concluded that there is no evidence of women entering traditionally male apprenticeships, despite the many more males who are taking up traditionally female apprenticeships.

Such analysis is important because it shows whose skills we are developing and the kind of labour force we are building. The modern apprenticeship scheme is just one example of our enterprise agencies, our local authorities and our businesses working in partnership to deliver on key Government pledges, and we believe that a review of that partnership working, in which lessons can be learned from good practice, could lead to a workforce where opportunities are available for every person.

That recommendation was reinforced in a 2011 Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee report on the purpose of our enterprise networks, which stated:

"It is of critical importance at this early stage of economic recovery and for the future that industry is able to articulate its needs and receive a joined up skills response, based on local, regional and national mapping of need."

Presiding Officer, can you tell me whether I have seven or nine minutes?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You have nine minutes, but I can give you a few more seconds for the interruption.

Jenny Marra: Thank you.

The Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee report examined our enterprise networks as a whole, the gaps in partnership working and the proactive steps that Government could take with local authorities and enterprise agencies themselves to improve their working. It concluded by saying:

"The Scottish Government now needs to give serious thought to what shape enterprise and regeneration support in the future might take."

Our future challenges for growth and regeneration are clear. We have a workforce that relies increasingly on part-time, zero-hours and temporary work. We have unaddressed long-term youth unemployment, and women are still bearing the brunt of the recession.

Enterprise networks have a significant role to play in overcoming those challenges, and the report that was published on Monday shows that the networks can be successful, but we need to ensure that the Government, local authorities and businesses work together as efficiently and as effectively as they can, so that we spend the public money as effectively as we can and get the right support to those who need it.

I am sure that the minister agrees that there is no room for complacency. A Governmentcommissioned review of our enterprise networks could present significant opportunities to promote a sustainable and equitable economy that is equipped for further growth.

I move amendment S4M-07643.1, to insert at end:

", and calls on the Scottish Government to conduct a review of the work and functions of enterprise agencies, including the work of Business Gateways in local authorities, and how they support and enhance its economic strategy and, given the current economic climate, how enterprise agencies are contributing toward sustainable economic growth".

16:00

Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): It was in 2007 that I previously held the economy and enterprise brief for my party, but it is almost as if nothing has changed in the interim. Here we are, back debating Scottish Enterprise again. I well remember all the debates that took place years ago in which Scottish Enterprise was regularly a kicking boy. I confess that I did my fair share of kicking in those days, and I was not alone in that. Front-bench spokesmen from the minister's party, which was then in opposition, were more than happy to put the boot in regularly.

However, times have changed and the enterprise networks have changed with them. We now see much slimmed-down organisations that have smaller budgets, fewer responsibilities and a much more focused approach.

The debate is held in the week when a new study has come out about Scottish Enterprise's account-management approach. The study is largely positive, although it highlighted concerns about the low level of churn in the accountmanagement portfolio, a slow transition from the business gateway growth pipeline to account management and shortages of management and performance data for account-managed companies.

At this morning's Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee meeting, we heard evidence from WeDO Scotland that there is a lack of information about who can apply to be part of Scottish Enterprise's high-growth programme and that account managers with relevant experience and expertise need to be aligned with the high-growth companies that are accepted on to the Companies to which account programme. managers from relevant backgrounds are assigned have had positive experiences, but that has not always been the case. We also heard evidence about the disconnect between business gateway and the transition to account-managed programmes, which Jenny Marra picked up on, and about a general lack of knowledge of the help that is available to small and medium-sized enterprises.

There are improvements to make, but they should not detract from what is a positive story overall. There remains a deeper philosophical issue about picking winners, which I debated with the minister a few moments ago. I am sure that that debate will continue.

In her amendment, Jenny Marra makes the case for a full review of the enterprise agencies' work. I listened with great interest to the case that she made, but I am not convinced at this stage that a review is the right thing to do. We had a major restructuring and upheaval in the enterprise networks not long ago. That has had time to bed down and, overall, the change has been positive. We should keep a close watching brief on that, but I am not sure whether a full review to dig that up and examine the roots is the right way to go at this stage.

My amendment raises a specific issue in connection with Scottish Enterprise—that of the intermediary technology institutes. Members with long memories will recall that, in 2002, the then Scottish Enterprise chief executive, Robert Crawford, set up the ITIs with the laudable aim of helping to commercialise research from Scottish universities. Three ITIs were established—in life sciences, energy and digital media—with offices in Dundee, Aberdeen and Glasgow respectively.

The then First Minister, Jack McConnell, was fulsome in his support of the new initiative. He said:

"Scotland's Technology Institutes will have a crucial role in making the giant leap to more world-beating companies and high-quality jobs."

It was not just members of the then Scottish Executive who were supportive. Alex Neil, the then convener of the Enterprise and Lifelong Learning Committee, said:

"they play a vital role in creating the industries of tomorrow".

Sadly, the ITIs had a chequered history. In the first two years, there was a high level of turnover of senior managers, amid complaints that Scottish Enterprise was cutting back on its initial funding promises. There was a major restructuring in 2007, and in 2009 the operation of the ITIs was brought back in-house. In 2010, Scottish Enterprise took the decision to stop investing in new projects altogether. The total spend over that period was some £231 million. The value of the intellectual property that has been generated to date is assessed to be a mere £600,000. On any measure, that represents a spectacular failure.

This week, I asked the Auditor General, Caroline Gardner, to carry out an audit of the performance of the ITIs. When such large sums of public money are involved, it is important that we understand exactly what went wrong, not least so that we can learn lessons for the future.

Fergus Ewing: I have been aware of Mr Fraser's concerns about the matter since yesterday, when his amendment was lodged. I would be more than happy to facilitate a meeting with Paul Lewis of Scottish Enterprise, at which Mr Fraser would have the opportunity to discuss his concerns and the detail of them at some length.

Of course, the Auditor General is independent of the Scottish Government and will make her own decision on how to pursue the matter.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You are now in your final 30 seconds.

Murdo Fraser: I am grateful to the minister for that helpful offer, and I look forward to engaging directly with Scottish Enterprise.

I raised the issue directly with Lena Wilson, the chief executive of Scottish Enterprise, in May, when she came to the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee, and she subsequently provided me with a study that had been carried out by the consultancy Frontline. Although it makes interesting reading, it does not specifically address the performance of the ITIs, so I think that further studies are required.

I applaud ambitious programmes and accept that, on occasion, risks will be taken that do not pay off when public money is spent. I am not looking to damn anyone for mistakes that may have been made, but I think that we need to obtain a proper understanding of what went wrong, not least so that we can learn lessons for the future and avoid the Scottish Government and its agencies repeating the mistakes of the past.

I move amendment S4M-07463, to insert at end:

", but believes that all public agencies must be able to demonstrate good value for public funds expended; notes that around £231 million was spent on Intermediary Technology Institutes (ITI) with very little return, and calls for a full independent audit of ITIs and their investments so that lessons can be learned for the future".

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We come to the open debate. Speeches should be of a maximum of six minutes, because we are very tight for time.

16:07

Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): On the afternoon of the publication of the draft budget, it is entirely appropriate for us to debate a motion on the enterprise networks. It is helpful, I think, to place the motion in context. The context is that we are now, at long last, tentatively emerging from what some commentators have described as the deepest recession for more than a century. The performance of our enterprise agencies must be considered against that background, and it is against that background that the results that they have achieved can only be described as staggeringly successful. A payback that achieves more than £5 of benefit for every public pound that is spent is a worthy achievement in any climate; in the economic climate of recent years, it is remarkable.

The Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee has had the opportunity to question senior officials from the enterprise agencies on several occasions over the past two years, and I know from those sessions that the evidence of the effectiveness of our enterprise agencies can stand up to scrutiny. I pay particular tribute to the robust methodology that Scottish Enterprise has developed to analyse its effectiveness. It takes a courageous and confident organisation to subject itself to such robust self-analysis, and I am convinced that that is part of the key to its success in recent years.

The clear goals and direction that the Scottish Government has set are another part of the reason for the success of our enterprise agencies. This is about economic understanding and competence. The great economist David Ricardo made the case very well in his theory of comparative advantage, which can perhaps be summarised as, "Do what you are good at and leave others to do what they are good at."

In helping businesses with high-growth potential and in facilitating sectors in which we excel, we are following that wisdom. For many months now, that has been seen to pay off as a range of statistics have steadily shown that we are generally outperforming the economy of the UK as a whole. Employment is higher, unemployment is lower, growth is returning faster than it is to the UK as a whole and, over the long term, Scotland is performing extremely well indeed.

Just as the Scottish Government is following a course of economic wisdom, sadly, George Osborne is ignoring the wisdom of perhaps England's greatest economist, John Maynard Keynes, and we are all paying for the chancellor's economic ineptitude. Think how much more we could achieve in Scotland if Mr Osborne had not cut our capital budget by 26 per cent. Think how much better our oil industry could be performing if he had not mounted his ill-conceived tax grab.

Murdo Fraser: On a point of order, Presiding Officer. I understood that the topic for debate was Scotland's enterprise networks, on which we have a motion and amendments before us. Is it in order for a member to address a subject that is completely outwith the terms of the debate?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Members should try to stick to the terms of the debate. If any

member wishes to intervene on another member, they can ask to do so. Mr MacKenzie, please continue.

Mike MacKenzie: Think how much better our renewables industry could be performing if George Osborne was not dithering over energy market reform, causing huge uncertainty and an investment hiatus. Think, too, how much better we could do if we could reduce VAT on tourism and if we could reduce air passenger duty. There would be more enterprise.

Think how much better we could do if we could work with the oil and gas industry to provide a stable and consistent tax regime. That would bring more enterprise and more success for our enterprise companies. Think what we could do with the prudent use of borrowing powers following Keynes's counter-cyclical wisdom, boosting the economy in times of recession and leaving a lasting legacy of better infrastructure. There would be more enterprise. Think how much better our enterprise companies could do and how much more they could achieve.

Margaret McDougall (West Scotland) (Lab): Given that the economy is now in a very different place from where it was in 2007, does the member not agree that this is the time for a review of the enterprise agencies?

Mike MacKenzie: I disagree entirely. I think that they are doing staggeringly well. Any review—if there is one at all—should be conducted on the basis of understanding how on earth they are managing to produce incredible results against such a difficult background.

Jenny Marra: Will the member take an intervention?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is concluding.

Mike MacKenzie: The Scottish economy appears, at long last, to be on an upward trajectory. A fundamental and necessary ingredient of the growth part of the business cycle is confidence, and the opportunities of next year's referendum are steadily becoming apparent and are a contributory factor in this growing confidence. That confidence, in turn, will help us to reach an escape velocity in which our enterprise companies will thrive and we will, at long last, throw off the drag factor of the economic incompetence of the UK Government.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am afraid that if members go over their time, another member will have to be dropped out of the debate.

16:13

Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab): I will try to introduce a little balance to the debate, following the hyperbole of the previous speaker. In the interests of balance, I recognise and support many of the priorities and successes of the enterprise agencies. However, equally, I think that it is important to identify the problems and gaps that justify Jenny Marra's call for a review.

I welcome many of the enterprise agencies' activities—for example, the focus on offshore renewables, which I hope will benefit my constituency in due course. I recognise that Scottish Enterprise is making a great contribution to that. I was also happy to recognise the successes in internationalisation when we had our debate on Scotland and China.

Finally, and most important in the context of today's debate, I and the Labour Party more generally welcome the focus on growing business and account management. One reason why we support that, of course, is that we started it; we instituted it through the smart, successful Scotland strategy of 2001, which was centred on the idea of growing businesses. We absolutely accept the principle of that. As the report that evaluated account management came out this week, it is right that we are focusing on it to a large extent in the debate.

I hope that, in winding up, the minister will answer the question on the budget statement that John Swinney did not answer. I asked him what the effect of the transfer of £41.8 million from revenue to capital would be on the enterprise budgets next year. I do not necessarily say that that is a good or bad thing, because I do not know what the precise detail of that is, but I have a suspicion that account management must have a large resource budget and worry that that transfer may have an effect on account management. Perhaps the minister will explain that in winding up.

The report that came out this week is quite a balanced document in its way. I point out to the minister that it says on page 114:

"The common perception that SE actively account manages 2000+ companies is inaccurate".

I think that the minister will remember saying that in his speech, but that is a quibble and a detail, in a sense.

The more basic point to make is that we have to think of the context of the report. The evaluators went out to talk to the people who get a great deal of help from Scottish Enterprise. It is as if someone did a survey of my constituents and identified the people to whom I have given the most help in the past year. I am sure that 90 per cent of them would say, "He's great." Far be it from me to say whether 90 per cent of all my constituents would say that, but members can get the distinction. That is part of the report's methodology. People who got support were talked to.

One of the concerns in the study from the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee two years ago, I think, was that companies with the potential to grow could be left out in the cold. I think that Murdo Fraser made that point in his intervention. That report was especially worried about the gap that might exist between the business gateway and account management. In a way, that was picked up in the evaluation report.

Fergus Ewing: Mr Chisholm has made many good points and I am happy to pursue some of them, but I suggest to him and other members that, if they come across any company that they think should have account-managed services and they write to me, I will ensure that the matter is fully investigated.

Malcolm Chisholm: As ever, the minister is helpful. I thank him for that.

The next word that I had written down was "review". The report this week that we are focusing on talks about reviewing the business gateway pipeline

"to consider whether pipeline companies have access to the level of support needed".

That is not the only place in the report in which the word "review" is used. Therefore, I do not think that people should be so surprised by what Jenny Marra proposes. She is not proposing it just because of this week's report, which is, in general, as I have said, perhaps too favourable to Scottish Enterprise. However, it talks about reviewing several aspects of what currently happens. Ministers and Murdo Fraser should bear that in mind.

This week's report is worried about

"the slow transition from the Business Gateway Growth Pipeline to account management"

and about

"The limited 'churn' in the account management portfolio."

It raises many issues and concerns while there are also positive reports.

A majority of the improvements are generated by a small group of companies. I was surprised to read that 10 per cent of companies deliver half of the gross value added. That is great, but it reminds us that there are many other companies that are not making the same progress or, indeed, are not being helped at all.

22310

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You are in your final minute.

Malcolm Chisholm: I am in my final minute, so I cannot make all the other points that I wanted to make. However, I was struck by the report's statement that Scottish Enterprise needs to

"improve its internal data capture and monitoring systems."

In my mind, that connected with some of the equality issues, because there is a little paragraph in Scottish Enterprise's business plan about how it is very much focused on equality, but there is very little indication of that in either its business plan or the evaluation report. Indeed, if we were to go by the pictures in its business plan, there would be few, if any, women-led businesses in Scotland, which is not the case. I think that Scottish Enterprise needs to focus on that to a greater extent and capture that data so that it focuses on equality issues as well as the issues of growing companies and the economy.

16:20

Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP): Nothing, but nothing—well, almost nothing—and I say this from years of domestic and international business experience, makes the blood flow more than entrepreneurial success. The concept, the design, the development, the making and the engineering of both hard and soft products, and, above all, the marketing, the selling and the servicing of the same are an infusion that makes you want more. Unsurprisingly, therefore, I support the main thrust of the motion. I do, however, place a question mark over the implied emergence of global economic recovery. If Mr Fraser will bear with me, I will get to the enterprise issue in a minute.

Recent predictions of a slowdown in Chinese and Indian GDP and a slowing in United States employment, aligned to inflation forecasts, puts one somewhat in the Jeremiah camp. Here in the UK, Osborne-esque ebullience on the economy is just a fig-leaf. If I may, I address that particular issue to Margaret McDougall. Total debt in the UK—personal, public and corporate—stands at £1.40 for every £1 that we earn. That is down from £1.60 over the past year, but it is set to rise again because we have house mortgage lending instead of the diversion of investment lending as intended to much needed access to finance for our SMEs. Here comes another housing bubble, just in time for the next Westminster election.

However, leaving the Jeremiah instinct aside, I think that the situation provides Scotland with a divergent economic opportunity to be realised via its various good enterprise networks after a yes vote next year. Although it will be easy to be critical, as some will be, constructive criticism should be set against a generally improving scenario because of anti-austerity actions, as were manifest in the excellent budget today. Since 2007, 18,160 new enterprises have been born; six years later 54.7 per cent of them still survive despite harsh economic conditions—which is 2.7 per cent above the UK average.

In Scotland, there were 2,215 more new business starts in 2011 than in 2009; in Dundee, there were 10 more; in Perth and Kinross, there were 40 more; and, importantly, there were 25 more in South Ayrshire. In terms of the demise of enterprises over the same period, the number for Scotland fell from 15,085 to 14,110; in Dundee, the number fell from 320 to 300; in Perth and Kinross, it fell from 480 to 440; and, importantly, it fell in South Ayrshire from 335 to 290. In general, despite the financial environment, performance is up and recovery in Scotland is working in the face of Westminster austerity. All the data, of course, are courtesy of the Office for National Statistics.

Now, are we complacent? Of course we are not. Can the agencies deliver even greater efficiency in national economic growth? We heard this morning from witnesses at a meeting of the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee about the need for greater localism and better communication between the business gateway and other agencies. The varied locations and organisational construction of the business gateways provides in some cases a patchy approach to cohesion and a fit with the national enterprise strategy. However, I feel sure that that will be addressed in the not too distant future.

There is little doubt, however, that both Scottish Enterprise and Scottish Development International have played a very significant part in Scotland's current anti-austerity situation and its positive reaction to rebutting what has been the advance of industrial and commercial recession. There is also their role in raising Scotland's international profile, underwritten by the Ernst & Young report declaring that Scotland is the place in the UK to be for inward investment. Our stock is higher, as is our profile and quality, and our export potential and performance continue to rise. The enterprise networks' pursuit of the Government's economic strategy, concentrating and focusing on winning sectors, is a totem to management and people in organisations and will continue to be an exciting entrepreneurial journey.

Although it is not yet a formal Government enterprise network agency, it would be remiss of me not to recognise the burgeoning social enterprise and third sector network. That important enterprise sector grew by 28 per cent in the past two years and we were told this morning that it has 335 routes to finance. It needs meaningful business support, but it is increasingly a key enterprise network. With the impending public procurement and community empowerment and renewal bills, it will be even more important as the days go on.

In the face of the most titanic of recessions, Scotland has been open for business, and the contribution of the enterprise agencies, notwithstanding their on-going review of efficiencies and organisations, has been a bulwark in that effort.

16:25

Maureen Watt (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP): I am pleased to have been called to speak in this debate as it gives me an opportunity to highlight the huge contribution that companies in the north-east—not just in the oil and gas sector, but in the food and drink sector make to the Scottish economy and, for now, to the UK economy, and to discuss the ways in which Scottish Enterprise has helped many of them.

The statistics that were announced over the past few weeks are impressive. Although there is still a long way to go, employment in Scotland is at its highest level in almost five years, economic inactivity dropped by 20,000 over the past quarter and we have the highest youth employment rate of any nation in the UK, at 57.2 per cent compared with the UK average of 49.8 per cent.

Scottish Enterprise has played an important role in driving economic growth in the Scottish economy, and its ambition is to grow the number of companies under its account-managed arm. Some 300 of its account-managed companies are in the oil and gas sector and about 250 are in the food and drink industry, with 46 of those in Aberdeen and Aberdeenshire.

An example of the help that Scottish Enterprise has given is its work with Hydrasun in my constituency, where the First Minister launched the oil and gas strategy. Hydrasun is a leading supplier of fluid connectors, hoses, fitting instrumentation and process control products, coupled with added-value services including integrity management, primarily to the oil and gas sector but also to a wide range of secondary sectors including the petrochemical, marine and defence industries.

Scottish Enterprise has supported Hydrasun to export to 58 different countries. Interestingly, it employs a number of linguists to help with that. Scottish Enterprise has helped with an acquisition in Brazil and has helped to drive Hydrasun not only to export but to establish operational bases and manufacturing facilities in Angola and the United Arab Emirates. The company also services the Gulf of Mexico oil industry and has partnership and distribution agreements in Egypt and Thailand. Its truly impressive growth has been helped by Scottish Enterprise.

While Scottish Enterprise has helped by account managing that company and others, it has not helped them on its own. It has worked with Scottish Development International on exports and with local universities on research and development. Many of the quarterly meetings that politicians in the north-east have with Scottish Enterprise Grampian have been at the premises of account-managed companies, and the feedback has been overwhelmingly positive. The advice that has been given has not just been sectoral. Middle managers were initially sceptical about having management skills training with colleagues from other industries, but it proved to be very "worthwhile". I am sure that it would not have happened without the help and co-operation of Scottish Enterprise.

Work with other organisations has been particularly evident in the food and drink sector. The food and health innovation service, which is based at the Rowett institute of nutrition and health in Aberdeen, directly supports food and drink companies that seek to exploit the burgeoning market for healthy food and drink products, which is estimated to be worth £20 billion in the UK and more than £300 billion globally.

In that regard, Scottish Enterprise works with Scotland Food and Drink and, for example, the James Hutton Institute, in my constituency, and its crop research arm in Dundee, which has helped to develop soft fruit production by introducing new products. Scottish Enterprise also works with other people in the food and drink sector, of course.

I am particularly interested in how small and medium-sized companies grow their businesses, access the skills of our university graduates and take on apprentices. The Scotgrad scheme has much merit but needs far more publicity. There also needs to be more co-ordination between the business gateway and Scottish Enterprise, with a view to driving companies into greater growth, as many members said.

Scottish Enterprise is on the right track. I have met no one in the agency who is in any way complacent or thinks that it cannot continue to improve its service to the Scottish economy and Scottish companies. Is the study that has been mentioned not an independent review, on which I am sure that Scottish Enterprise can build?

16:31

Margaret McDougall (West Scotland) (Lab): Scotland's enterprise agencies are a vital tool in helping Scotland to meet the economic challenges that we face. They are integral to the creation of a sustainable economy that fosters innovation and investment.

I welcome the publication of the "Evaluation of Scottish Enterprise Engagement with Account Managed Companies", but the report was commissioned by Scottish Enterprise and is fairly self-congratulatory. As Jenny Marra said, Scottish Enterprise has not been independently reviewed since 2007. I support calls for such a review. If the agency was scrutinised by, for example, the Public Audit Committee, we could establish how well it is performing in delivering the Scottish Government's economic strategy.

It says in the report that the account management model that the enterprise agencies use is effective, provides value for money and should remain largely unchanged. As the minister said, 80 per cent of people who took part in the telephone survey are not confident that they would be able to source comparable support from anywhere other than Scottish Enterprise.

An issue that SMEs raise time and again, which was raised in this morning's meeting of the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee, is access to finance. As it says in the report,

"It has been increasingly difficult for many companies to obtain bank loans and/or overdraft facilities to manage cash flow issues or facilitate growth."

In the area that I represent, Sercon Support Services Ltd is a successful, award-winning small business—indeed, it is used by Scottish Enterprise as a model of best practice. Members might expect such a company to be able to get funding to expand, but Sercon struggled to find further investment funding. It is worrying that such a strong company, which has Scottish Enterprise's support and put forward a robust business case, was rejected by funders. We must ask how many smaller, less well-established companies are being rejected.

We need to do more to ensure that support is on hand for small and medium-sized businesses, which are finding it hard to secure funding from banks as a result of stricter lending criteria or simply because banks are risk averse. Banks need to be clearer about the sectors that they will support and what they are looking for in business plans.

I am pleased to say that Sercon eventually secured funding. However, the company had to go through a protracted process, with many disappointments along the way.

The Scottish Government and the enterprise agencies need to do more to support businesses when they apply to banks for loans, particularly if the business provides a direct economic benefit to the area, as Sercon does, by safeguarding and creating employment opportunities. Perhaps the minister will say today what the Scottish Government and Scottish Enterprise are doing to address such issues and whether it is possible to extend the lending portfolio of enterprises agencies, to ensure that companies, especially start-up and smaller businesses, can access much-needed finance so that they can grow or become better established.

It is not just financial support that SMEs need but advice on managerial issues, accountancy and a broad spectrum of other issues. There is also a need to focus on areas of high unemployment such as North Ayrshire, which, according to Scottish Enterprise's statistics from April 2012 to March 2013, had only two companies—out of 268 in Scotland—that were considered to have growth prospects. Will more support be considered for areas that are economic black spots?

That said, according to the report, from 2008-09 to 2011-12 the account management model has contributed £1.11 billion of additional economic value to the Scottish economy and Scottish Enterprise has—as the minister stated earlier—created and/or safeguarded 15,130 jobs. We just need to ensure that that support is better targeted, perhaps towards women and minority groups and towards SMEs rather than higher growth companies.

In my area, I have seen the direct benefit of an enterprise agency's work to safeguard jobs. Highlands and Islands Enterprise has played an integral part in stopping the closure of the university marine biological station at Millport by working with the Field Studies Council, North Avrshire Council, Cumbrae Community Development Company and the wider community to secure its future. There is no doubt that the closure of the marine station would have devastated the local economy, with the loss of 30 quality jobs and up to £2 million removed from the local economy.

Although there is some evidence that Scottish Enterprise is supporting the economy, there remain questions on whether it could perform better, particularly in respect of support to small and start-up businesses as well as in areas of direct economic need.

I support the Labour amendment.

16:37

Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): I had the great pleasure of spending a large part of last week at the offshore Europe conference at the Aberdeen Exhibition and Conference Centre, which hosted well over 50,000 delegates and 1,500 stands, with not only multinational companies but small companies, some of which are just starting out. I know that the minister spent quite a lot of time there—I know that because I saw him. During the two days that I managed to attend, many folk said that they had had the opportunity to speak directly to him. That was very much appreciated.

Obviously, there are the big players in the offshore energy market, but there are also the small companies that I referred to. Some companies are moving away from their former traditional markets to enter the oil and gas field.

One question that I always ask when I visit companies is what their relationship is with Scottish Enterprise, whether they have an account manager and what their relationship is with the local council's economic development team. When I did the same thing a number of years ago as a councillor, the reports back about Scottish Enterprise were normally unfavourable. That has changed dramatically. While there is always room for improvement, the system that we have now is much better than the previous system.

I will make one plea about some of the small companies from outwith the north-east of Scotland that are trying to break into oil and gas. By doing so, I am showing that I am not completely and utterly parochial. Sometimes, account managers from elsewhere in the country do not have the oil and gas experience of those who are based in the north-east of Scotland. I would like to see better flexibility and use of resource. It would be a great boon to account managers if they were to get back-up—and an even greater boon to the companies that are trying to break out of their traditional markets and into oil and gas.

I am also enthused by the fact that the VisitScotland expo is coming to Aberdeen in April 2015. It will showcase the best of Scottish tourism and will involve tour operators and travel operators from around 40 countries—from as far afield as India, Russia and the middle east as well as North America and Europe.

Such events are often times when Scottish Enterprise comes to the fore. It may be a tourism event that is designed to boost Scottish tourism and Aberdeen as a tourist destination but, beyond that, I am sure that many folk who are there will want to do business in this country.

I have listened carefully to what others have said and I think that, sometimes, no matter what side of the constitutional argument they are on, people in this place can sometimes downplay how well we are doing. There was an article on foreign investment in *The Economist* on 31 August, entitled, "Catching the Scots—why England trails the Celtic fringe". It is well worth a read.

Speaking about the situation south of the border, the article states:

"Ernst & Young blames government policy. In 2010 the coalition announced that England's nine regional development agencies would be replaced by 39 local enterprise partnerships (LEPs), voluntary consortiums of local councils and businesses. This was done two years later. It seems to have made things worse."

It also states:

"In Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, where devolved administrations run economic development, the agencies are undisturbed."

It continues:

"Scotland is simply better at co-ordinating different arms of local and central government to deliver what inward investors want—roads for new factories, planning permissions, training packages for workforces and the like. A Scottish government minister cracks the whip at any laggards."

I do not know whether that last sentence is true, but I hope that the minister will confirm it when he sums up the debate.

Jenny Marra: Will the member give way?

Kevin Stewart: I am in my last minute-I am sorry.

The article concludes:

"Edward Twiddy, chief executive of the North East LEP, covering Tyneside and Durham, enviously admires his northern counterparts ... But his Celtic competitors are well ahead, and they show no sign of slowing down."

I think that we could power ahead even further in that regard if we had the full levers of power of a normal, independent Parliament. I am quite sure that, if the minister had that power, we would be doing even better than we currently are.

16:43

Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD): I gently point out to Kevin Stewart, after his great tribute to *The Economist*, that the magazine once published another article about independence, which was featured on the front page. He might not have been so keen to quote that article in the context of his exposition of what a wonderful magazine *The Economist* is. Perhaps we should always take these arguments in the round.

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way?

Tavish Scott: No, you have had your say, Kevin. We listened with great interest but did not give a lot of thought to what you said.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I ask members to use full names, please.

Tavish Scott: A lot of speakers on Mr Stewart's benches have run down England this afternoon. That is a bit of an unfortunate side to this debate, but I suppose that we will just have to put up with it for the next year. We have heard the independence budget and this is a debate on the

independence aspects of the enterprise networks—that is what it is going to be like.

What Maureen Watt said about a clear direction being given to the enterprise networks is absolutely true, which is why I think that the Labour amendment misses the point of the debate. There has never been clearer direction for all the quangos and agencies in Scotland: they are told what to do by the Government of the day.

Like it or not, that is the nature of the quango state that we have in Scotland today—it is absolutely controlled from the centre. The challenge function of the Highlands and Islands Enterprise board and the Scottish Enterprise board that I recall from my time as a minister does not exist in the same way today. That is not just my assessment; it is what board members have told me privately—of course, they could not possibly say those things publicly.

Jenny Marra: Does Tavish Scott agree that the point of my amendment is not to make a point about whether the agencies are Government led but to say that a robust institution that is performing well, such as SE, should not fear further scrutiny to check that public money is being spent most effectively and to support the businesses that need it the most?

Tavish Scott: Let me make a parliamentary point to that reasonable argument from Jenny Marra. The last thing that Scotland should do at a time of difficult public spending cuts is to spend yet more money on consultants and big KPMG-type organisations, who would undoubtedly be commissioned to do the work.

I am not about to say that Mr Fraser's committee is not doing its job properly, but Parliament's job is to scrutinise such matters. If people want parliamentary reviews of the structure of the enterprise companies, they should get the parliamentary committees to take it on and conduct a full and proper investigation into the matter.

In fairness, that is what happened in the past. If Parliament did not do much of a job with that, perhaps we should examine ourselves rather than always assume that the right thing to do would be to employ expensive external consultants to examine other areas of public policy.

Mike MacKenzie: Will Tavish Scott give way?

Tavish Scott: No—although I will come to Mr MacKenzie, because he made some really silly points to which I want to reply.

Mr Ewing was looking for ideas, which is a good principle. Let me give him an idea that relates to Scottish Enterprise. As I am sure he is aware, there is a considerable movement worldwide to invest in high-speed rail. The interesting aspect from a Scottish perspective is not so much the track but what the track sits on. In Scotland, at Heriot-Watt University, we have a centre of world excellence in that, which Scottish Enterprise has had a small look at. I thank it for that interest.

Our challenge is not in how to engineer a train that goes much more quickly; it is in the existing track testing. There is a track-testing station at Heriot-Watt University that is a global centre of excellence. The university has just signed a memorandum of understanding with Atkins—the major international engineering business—that can take the work into a new dimension. Indeed, the chief executive officer of Atkins said at the signing of that memorandum on 19 July:

"With 15,000 miles of new high speed track due to be laid in the next decade ... we have a Centre of Excellence which is a 'go-to' place for design and testing of new ideas such as design of new shape of embankments."

I hope that the minister will encourage his ministerial colleagues to visit the centre and take an active interest in it. As yet, that has not happened at ministerial level. It has happened at Scottish Enterprise level and I am grateful for that, but the centre needs similar ministerial interest for the simple reason that—the nationalist case is always running down England and I must bring this piece of news to the SNP's attention—in its most recent regional growth fund the UK Government awarded moneys to the University of Huddersfield and its institute of railway research to create a centre of innovation in rail for exactly such work.

SNP members always say that nothing good ever happens in England. There is an example of investment in rail in England. We could do the same in Scotland. Scottish Enterprise has shown some interest in it, but we have not had any ministerial involvement in the centre of excellence here in Scotland's capital city. I plead with the minister that he show some leadership where his colleagues have not and that he have a close and encouraging look at the centre.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You are in your final minute, Mr Scott.

Tavish Scott: I will make one other point on oil and gas. I do not think that Mike MacKenzie ever listens to anything that Fergus Ewing says because, when Oil & Gas UK published the latest investment figures, the first press release that I saw that morning was from Mr Ewing, saying what an outstanding success it was and that it was all down to the considerable work that was being done—

Mike MacKenzie: Will Tavish Scott give way?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is concluding.

Tavish Scott: Mr Ewing said that it was all down to the useful work that the Scottish Government and the UK Government had been doing. He was at pains to press that point and I applaud him for that, so I do not know where Mr MacKenzie was when those world-leading UK investment figures were announced and I do not recognise his description of the UK oil and gas industry. We should talk it up rather than use the kind of examples that he used in his arguments.

As the decommissioning round that is going on in the northern North Sea continues, I hope that Mr Ewing and his ministerial colleagues will concentrate hard on the supply chain, because that is where there is great potential for Scottish jobs in both the Highlands and Islands Enterprise and the Scottish Enterprise areas.

16:49

Christian Allard (North East Scotland) (SNP): I will comment on some of the speeches that members have made.

I disagree with most of what Tavish Scott said, but there is something with which I agree. Why have a review? It seems to me that, as Mike MacKenzie said, such a review would serve only to help other nations in the United Kingdom to understand how well we are doing here in Scotland. I am a bit dubious about what the purpose would be.

I am delighted to be speaking in the debate because it gives me another opportunity to promote my own region, North East Scotland, even if Maureen Watt and Kevin Stewart have already done a lot to promote it. It is really astonishing to see the improvements that have been made over the years to support the many businesses that make the north-east such a fantastic place to live and work.

Many of the speakers today—some of them on other parties' benches—told us that we can do much more. I agree that we must always strive to do better in this global economy, but the place that Scotland occupies in the world today is truly astonishing. We are recognised and appreciated in many sectors and we are punching well above our weight.

From personal experience, I can illustrate that that was not true 25 years ago. Picture this: a young Frenchman in his 20s decided to offer a new seafood haulage service from Scotland to Spain—an opportunity for many small and medium-sized seafood companies across Scotland that wanted to open up new markets.

To my surprise, the promotion of the new service was led by Food from Britain. I was asked to come down to London to launch the service—a

service that had nothing to do with London. I spoke at the event but struggled to recognise any faces and was introduced to people who had no interest in the project. FFB was created in the 1980s to promote the export of UK-produced food and drink, and it lost all its funding from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs back in 2008—rightly so.

Today, it is a different picture. Scotland's enterprise agencies are playing a vital role in building the capability of Scottish producers. The food and drink steering group led by Scottish Enterprise—with representation from Scotland Food & Drink, the Scottish Government and VisitScotland—is ensuring that the food and drink offering is a priority at events such as those surrounding the Commonwealth games, the Ryder cup and the year of homecoming. The result of those efforts is clear for all to see, and the boom in the Scottish food and drink sector looks set to continue with the help of those agencies.

The north-east is at the heart of the sector, producing a fantastic array of food and drink products. Again, that was not always the case. On Monday, I was in Oldmeldrum in Aberdeenshire, visiting a vibrant distillery that is run by someone who understands better than most how much Scotland's exports should be celebrated. If members visit the distillery, they should be sure to pronounce "Glen Garioch" correctly; otherwise, Kenny, the manager, will be quick to correct them and to point out that it is the name of one of Scotland's oldest distilleries.

Kenny told me that, in the mid-1990s, the distillery had to stop production and shut down as it was unable to sell its stock. Now the distillery is booming, helped by a lot of the Government agencies. It is producing and exporting like never before, filling about 100 casks per week with the finest malt whisky.

We are truly moving forward as a nation. Scotland as a brand is now being used in everything that Scotland's enterprise agencies do—with great success. It is not by accident that figures published this week show that the Scottish food and drink industry has met its turnover goal six years ahead of schedule, with a turnover of more than £13 billion in 2011 against a target of £12.5 billion by 2017.

The plan is to do more, and 2015 will be the year of Scotland's food and drink—another way to promote the best of Scotland. As members can see, I love food and I love it to be Scottish and bought locally. Last Sunday, I went to the Huntly Hairst food and farming festival with Dennis Robertson, the constituency MSP for Aberdeenshire West. It is another event that is promoted by Scottish Government agencies. In its fifth year, the event is a great place for promoting

and showcasing local food production, and it kickstarted the Scottish food and drink fortnight in the

While Dennis held a surgery in the town hall, I sat in front of a full plate of stovies at the Gordon Arms hotel. We know how to make stovies in Huntly—after all, it is where the world stovies competition takes place every year. On Sunday, for the first time, a man won the trophy.

Another highlight in the north-east this year was the Dundee flower and food festival, which came at the start of Scottish food and drink fortnight. Glen Garioch distillery participated in that wellattended event and recorded much interest for its malt whisky.

Like Kevin Stewart, I, too, went to the offshore Europe conference, where I met a lot of Government-led organisations. One of them was VisitScotland, which had a special stall for the new MyAberdeen app. I encourage any member who wants to visit Aberdeen to get that app to ensure that they find the best food and accommodation that the north-east can provide.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You must conclude, please.

Christian Allard: There is a big challenge in the energy sector—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am afraid that you are over your time, so please come to a conclusion.

Christian Allard: Yes, thank you.

The north-east is the best place to learn, to work, to visit and to eat. Scottish Enterprise and other organisations need to be ready to do much more, because a yes vote in 2014 will open many doors for our skills and expertise, our produce and our global brand—Scotland.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I call Ken Macintosh, to be followed by Stewart Stevenson, whose time may have to be reduced.

16:55

Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab): I am sure that the minister will take heart from the fact that all members and parties will, I think, support the Government motion. Few people in Scotland, let alone in Parliament, would not wish for Scotland's enterprise agencies to play a vital role in securing economic recovery. I am sure that we are all delighted to hear that the account management system that has been introduced at Scottish Enterprise is working well.

We should say "Well done" to an organisation and, more important, to its staff—when it does well, but given the size and scale of the difficulties that face the Scottish economy, do we want the message that the Scottish Parliament sends out today to be one of congratulation? Given that the output of our economy is still below the level of five years ago, and given the level of unemployment facing our country, particularly among young people, as well as the squeeze on nearly every family's income through wage freezes, overtime bans and increases in the cost of living, does it not feel a little complacent, or at least a little premature, to pat ourselves on the back at this stage?

I would certainly hate to think of Mr Ewing or his colleague Mr Swinney taking a leaf out of George Osborne's book and, after five years of recession, looking at some modest signs of recovery and thinking that they are vindicated and that their work is done. If the minister is tempted to do that, he might, rather than model himself on George Osborne, take a look at the more admirably cautious Vince Cable. If he does not want to do that, I remind him of today's news that 10,000 more Scots are out of work.

I have no doubt that the staff at Scottish Enterprise and Highlands and Islands Enterprise are working assiduously to grow the economy and to help business and industry, but might not we in the Scottish Parliament play a more productive role if we were to examine more objectively the difference that those organisations make to the Scottish economy—the value that they add—and how that could be improved?

A quick glance at the companies that currently receive grants from our enterprise companies reveals a number of familiar names—KPMG, Honeywell and Hutchison 4G. I am sure that those are all admirable organisations, but they are also highly successful and profitable global multinationals. Is it really right that we, the taxpayers, should give financial support that is likely to end up with the shareholders of those multinational companies?

I also note that SSE received more than £1 million from the Scottish Government while simultaneously being fined £10.5 million by the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets for misselling. I have no particular beef with any of those companies, but I wonder whether more locally based and Scottish-owned small and mediumsized businesses might be more worthwhile recipients of our support.

Fergus Ewing: I reassure Ken Macintosh that all emoluments that are paid from taxpayers' money to any company are based on the strict application of laws and are especially directed towards job creation. In other words, the money is paid only when the jobs are created. In essence, that is the principle that applies, and it is one that I believe has created a great deal of employment.

north-east.

Unless Mr Macintosh can say which grants should not have been made, I wonder what the purpose of his criticism is.

Ken Macintosh: I will give a specific example. This very week, I received a letter from Amazon. As the minister will know, many members—as well as many people who are denied full employment by the company and many hard-pressed local businesses that are faced with closure because of competition from Amazon—are dismayed that we are handing over millions of pounds to a company that does not pay its fair share of taxes.

In the letter that I received from Amazon, the company admits to having been awarded approximately £4 million of grants from Scottish Enterprise in the past five years. I am not sure whether that sum includes the taxpayer subsidy towards the cost of land, but either way it is a substantial sum of money.

My letter to Amazon asked a number of questions, including specific ones such as:

"How many staff work for Amazon in Scotland on socalled zero-hours contracts?"

My favourite sentence in the reply was:

"The vast majority of temporary associates in our fulfilment centres work a 40 hour week, and we are working with our employment agencies to guarantee all temporary associates at least 20 hours per week."

I am sure that we all know the euphemisms that are used to disguise or temper the more brutal truth. I wonder how many of those who are working in a high-security warehouse, denied recognition of their own trade union membership, think that they are employed in a "fulfilment centre"?

I asked about zero hours contracts, which is in itself a euphemism for the denial of employment rights. The reply talks of "temporary associates", but we must not allow ourselves to be sweettalked into accepting jobs at any price—or worse, into paying for jobs that would have had to come here anyway. Given Amazon's need to supply goods the length and breadth of Scotland, I cannot believe that it would not have pressed ahead with its so-called "fulfilment centre" without Government support.

Without wishing to be critical of either agency, does the minister not share the further concern that Scottish Enterprise and HIE have, between them, spent more than £50 million on severance pay over the past five years? That is £50 million that has been spent not on hiring people, creating employment or finding jobs for the tens of thousands of Scots who are desperately seeking work, but on shoving people out the door. I find it difficult to see how that vast sum of money has contributed to the sustainability of our economy. **The Deputy Presiding Officer:** Please come to a conclusion, Mr Macintosh.

Ken Macintosh: Thank you, Presiding Officer.

I ask the minister whether he heard this morning about the work of the Scottish cities alliance, and whether he will comment on the work of our local cities as engines of growth. I urge him to accept Labour's amendment to the motion.

17:02

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): I have a special interest in the enterprise network, as the constituency that I represent is the only one that straddles the areas that are covered by Highlands and Islands Enterprise and Scottish Enterprise, so I have to deal with both agencies in my constituency work.

The experience is markedly different in the Highlands and Islands, where social concerns are at the centre of the agency's activity, in contrast to the business-focused approach in the south of Scotland. I commend the Highlands and Islands Enterprise model to the rest of the country.

I have a couple of examples from elsewhere that might inform the debate to some extent. Our English friends do not necessarily get everything wrong. I have to say that because my English granny, who came from the north-east of England, would not—from up where she is—wish to hear me saying any different down here. The north-east is one of the areas of England that has suffered most from Westminster's abolition of the regional development agencies.

One of the people with whom I worked when I was Minister for Transport, Infrastructure and Climate Change was Andrew Adonis, the Labour Secretary of State for Transport at Westminsterand a very effective minister he was. He is now working closely with a group of local authorities in the north-east of England to try to fill that gap, produce economic reports and co-ordinate activities. They are doing very well, in comparison with doing nothing, but they are denied the toolsas the report that he has published make clearthat would enable them to compete as effectively with Scotland as they wish. Many people in the north-east of England are now looking to us and considering the ways in which we could collaborate across the border, and I wish them well in that endeavour.

I will say just a word or two about Brazil, which is now part of the BRIC acronym—Brazil, Russia, India and China—that denotes the next wave of successful economies that will come to the fore in the world in the years to come. When I visited Brazil in 1982, it was in very deep difficulties indeed. In the eight days I was there, the value of the cruzeiro—Brazil's currency—halved, and by the time I got back home and received my credit card statement with my transactions from Brazil, I actually had to pay less than one fifth of what the price had been when the transaction was conducted. That economy was in a difficult place.

However, the Brazilian Government then recognised that capital investment was essential to get the country out of the hole it was in. For example, the Government supported a university engineering course that included an exercise to design a commuter aircraft. That project led to Embraer, whose aircraft can now be seen at all maior airports-including Edinburah. our and Glasgow-operating regional Aberdeen routes around Europe. It is now a successful company. Out of adversity, the right investment policies by Government, through its enterprise agencies, can lead to successful outcomes.

Let us not imagine, however, that every investment will be successful. Indeed, it is necessary that we are not so risk averse as to invest only in certainties. We must be prepared to take some of our money and put it into projects that involve slightly higher risks than we might otherwise want. Some of those will pay off big style, but we should be prepared to carry the can for those that do not, and we should be prepared to make such investments.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You are in your final minute.

Stewart Stevenson: Tavish Scott took a pop at Kevin Stewart's references to *The Economist*, but I must say that *The Economist* is an excellent newspaper. My wife used to write for it, so I am bound to say that. It was deeply offensive to Scotland for *The Economist* to include on its cover, in the edition to which Tavish Scott referred, a map of Scotland with the label "Skintland". That label was actually quite disjointed from the article inside. I confess—please do not tell anyone that I did this—that, for some months afterwards, whenever I passed through a railway station, I moved *The Economist* behind other magazines, so ashamed was I that people might buy it.

Presiding Officer, I have—to use the minister's word—oodles more that I could say. Would that I had the time to do so, but thank you very much.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Many thanks. I apologise for having to curtail your time.

We turn to closing speeches. I remind members who have participated in the debate that they should be in the chamber for closing speeches.

I call Alex Johnstone. You have a very tight six minutes.

17:07

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): The debate has been useful, in that we have skirted round many points that concern the current position of the enterprise networks and the direction in which they should go. At times, we have not dealt with issues in great depth, but some subjects have been properly aired.

Reading the motion in the name of the minister, which I will vote for later, I think that he is a bit ungenerous to mention

"the emerging signs of the global economic recovery and the vital role that Scotland's enterprise agencies play",

while forgetting that, in reality, we are currently surfing a wave of UK recovery. If we were not part of the UK economy, we might be suffering some of the ill effects that other European countries are suffering today.

That failure to regard the importance of that relationship has been the theme of today. Earlier today, the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and Sustainable Growth delivered his budget statement, which in my view was a responsible, balanced and-within his own policy priorities-sound statement. However, he spoiled it all by saying that he balanced the budget only because of the fiscal discipline that is imposed on him by the Scottish block grant and that if he were not subject to that discipline, he would break the bank, blow the budget and reverse every one of the hard-earned gains of the past three years. Similarly, Fergus Ewing and many of his back benchers, in taking the opportunity to take sideswipes at the UK and the UK economy, have also chosen today to destroy what could have been a reasonably consensual debate.

On the amendment in the name of Jenny Marra, I must say that we on this side of the chamber will find it difficult to support. In my view, a root and branch review of our enterprise networks would be a mistake at this stage. It is important to recognise that there have been radical changes in the enterprise networks, in which review has played a significant part. At the same time, I believe that a responsible minister-I believe that we have a responsible minister-will keep the network constantly under review and ensure that he addresses the needs of the network in a constructive manner. Indeed, in his opening speech the minister made it clear that during today's debate and subsequently, he is seeking ideas and is willing to work together with others.

I turn to my colleague Murdo Fraser's amendment. I have to say that there is some concern about the performance of the intermediary technology institutes, so I welcome the minister's offer in that respect.

However, the enterprise network's tendency over the years to indulge in the practice of picking winners was also mentioned. We do not want the network to decide who will succeed or who will fail; instead, we want it to pick the companies that will

network to decide who will succeed or who will fail, instead, we want it to pick the companies that will deliver the best growth, the best employment and the best long-term returns for the Scottish economy. What concerns me most about the Labour Party's position, which was set out at some length by Margaret McDougall and supported in some respects by Ken Macintosh, is that it wants to pick companies not on the basis of potential to succeed for Scotland, but more on the basis of geography, social criteria and—I believe—even gender. It seems to be a case not so much of picking winners as of deliberately picking losers. If that is the kind of review of the enterprise network that the Labour Party wants, I am not prepared to address it.

Jenny Marra: Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: I am sorry—I want to complete my remarks.

One or two other members who have spoken in the debate are worthy of note, not least of whom is my sparring adversary, Kevin Stewart, who began his remarks by saying that he does not want us to downplay our successes. Like John Lewis, Mr Stewart is never knowingly undersold; however, he then went on to indulge in a discourteous critique of our neighbours' performance.

Kevin Stewart: Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: Perhaps we should recognise the importance of the relationship that we have with our friends on the other side of the border and not indulge in that sort of activity.

Kevin Stewart: Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: If Kevin Stewart is not going to sit down, I will have to hear what he says—but he needs to make it quick.

Kevin Stewart: The article in *The Economist* clearly showed that people in the north-east of England are a little bit jealous of what goes on here. I think that, after independence, they will refocus their attention from London to north of the border and that, after independence, we should help them to boost their economy.

Alex Johnstone: Kevin Stewart should, as was suggested by another member, read the whole of *The Economist*, not just the bits that he likes.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You have 30 seconds, Mr Johnstone.

Alex Johnstone: Tavish Scott offered an interesting interpretation that I largely support. However, I thought at one point that he was going to propose a high-speed railway to Shetland—a

proposal that even an independent Scotland would find hard to swallow.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please come to a conclusion.

Alex Johnstone: It is the Conservatives' intention to support the Government motion and to seek support for our amendment. Unfortunately, however, we will be unable to support the Labour amendment at decision time.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Thank you very much.

Jenny Marra has a maximum of seven minutes.

17:13

Jenny Marra: The Labour Party will at decision time support the Government's motion, our amendment and, despite Alex Johnstone's remarks, the Conservative amendment.

Indeed, I want to clarify for Mr Johnstone that neither I nor my colleagues were advocating that Scottish Enterprise should select businesses to support based on anything other than their potential for economic growth and their contribution to our economy. Mr Johnstone made particular reference to my comments about gender, but I must draw to his attention the fact that they were based on evidence from the EHRC. The commission did not say that Scottish Enterprise should invest in businesses just to put more women into work but, according to its evidence, 0.5 per cent of modern apprenticeships are being taken up by disabled people in Scotland. despite the fact that 8 per cent of 16 to 24-yearolds have a disability, and less than 2 per cent are being taken up by ethnic minorities, despite the fact that 4 per cent of 16 to 24-year-olds are from an ethnic minority. That evidence shows that opportunities are not equal across our society, which is certainly a point to bear in mind.

The evaluation that was published on Monday goes some way to demonstrating that Scottish Enterprise adds to our economy and that it gives high levels of support to business. However, as I said, the evaluation also provides an opportunity to take a pulse check on how agencies interact with one another, with local and national Government and with business. Since 2007, when the economy was buoyant, no substantial Government-led review of our enterprise agencies has taken place, despite a rapidly changing Scottish economy and a rapidly changing economic landscape that could—although not necessarily—need new solutions. The position is worth reviewing.

As Ken Macintosh said, the long-term youth unemployment figure remains high. We heard this morning that an additional 32,000 16 to 24-yearolds in Scotland came out of work over the summer. The unemployment rate among women is rising, and workers increasingly face little choice but to take part-time or temporary work or a contract that means that they must wait for the phone to ring—a zero hours contract. Our shared aim is to get more young Scots into jobs, to support women in Scotland and to offer every person and every business the support that they need.

I will touch on some of the speeches. Margaret McDougall made a pertinent point about the plight of some small businesses that want to secure bank loans and about how Scottish Enterprise can work with them to help them in that process. Is the minister willing to address that point in closing or in a letter later?

Kevin Stewart spent time on listing Scottish Enterprise's achievements and congratulating it on them. I agree with much of that but, as I have said in the chamber before, robust and successful institutions should not fear review, scrutiny and more suggestions on how they could operate better. Healthy organisations welcome a review process and, particularly in the changed economy since 2007, such scrutiny should be welcomed.

Tavish Scott said that, at a difficult economic time, we should not commission reviews that could be expensive. The point is well made, but I contend that it is particularly appropriate to review, assess and scrutinise an agency that is tasked with driving our economy at such a difficult economic time. We need to check that the precious public funds that are set aside for economic growth have the most impact and that we are getting the highest return for every pound that we spend.

Tavish Scott suggested that committees of the Parliament could step up and do the job. I know that the Conservatives will not support our amendment and that Murdo Fraser is sceptical about a review, but much of what he said in opening agreed with the purposes of a review. Might he undertake a review of Scottish Enterprise in the Economy, Energy and Tourism Committee?

Chic Brodie: Jenny Marra has made the point about her review. What measurement parameters would she expect to come out of it? How would they interact? What assessment would she make? Would the parameters include the rate of return, employment or investment?

Jenny Marra: The parameters and measurables would be set by the experts who conducted the review. Chic Brodie knows that I am a politician; I would leave it up to the experts to set out the criteria, but that should certainly be done.

Maureen Watt asked whether the study that was published on Monday is not an independent

review that Scottish Enterprise can build on. I say to her that, although Monday's report is useful, it is-unfortunately-not an independent report. It was commissioned by Upper Quartile, which is a group research that Scottish Enterprise commissioned. As Malcolm Chisholm pointed out, many of the report's findings were taken from businesses that receive support from Scottish Enterprise. An inquiry that Murdo Fraser's committee led would allow us to hear from businesses that feel that they need support, startup businesses and fledgling initiatives, to see whether Scottish Enterprise is meeting their needs.

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The member needs to bring her remarks to a close.

Jenny Marra: In conclusion, I think that it is time for a review, and I hope that the committees will also take heed of my suggestions.

The Presiding Officer: I call Fergus Ewing to wind up the debate. You have until 5.29.

17:20

Fergus Ewing: I thank everyone who has contributed to the debate and welcome Jenny Marra and Murdo Fraser—a new face and an old hand—to the enterprise portfolio.

I found the debate useful at times, and I would like to respond to some of the specific points that were made, which is what I always try to do. I will do so in no particular order.

In his speech, Ken Macintosh focused on whether grant payments should be made to some of the largest companies. I say to Ken Macintosh and other members of the chamber that regional selective assistance is not paid for zero hours contracts. Let us get that clear. No one should leave the chamber with the belief, or should draw from Ken Macintosh's speech the inference, that RSA is paid for zero hours contracts. That is not the case, nor should it be the case.

Ken Macintosh: Will the minister take an intervention?

Fergus Ewing: No, as I have a lot of ground to cover. I just wanted to make that point.

Ken Macintosh: Will the minister take an intervention on zero hours contracts?

Fergus Ewing: No—I want to move on. That is the rule on RSA. [*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Mr Macintosh, the minister is not taking an intervention.

Fergus Ewing: Tavish Scott mentioned the work that is being done at Heriot-Watt University and the memorandum of understanding with Atkins. I will contact Heriot-Watt's Steve

Chapman. I have had good relations with him, and we played a little part in helping with the university's tremendously successful establishing of a campus at Putrajaya in my early days in the portfolio. I praise the efforts of Heriot-Watt and I will, of course, continue to work with it in that regard.

Chic Brodie quite rightly mentioned the important role that the third sector and social enterprises play. Companies from those areas are among the account-managed companies.

Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab): Will the minister take a brief intervention?

Fergus Ewing: Please let me get through what other members said. I do not have a lot of time and I want to show respect to the members who took part in the debate, one of whom was Margaret McDougall. She mentioned access to finance, and Jenny Marra repeated the request that I respond on that issue. That is perfectly correct—that is what debates are for.

My response is that we and the enterprise networks do a fairly substantial amount of work to encourage banks to lend, to ascertain their policies and to help them engage with businesses. This year, Scottish Enterprise intends to help 350 to 400 companies secure growth finance by improving their financial readiness. Mr Swinney, the First Minister and I have had regular meetings with bank representatives. That will, of course, continue, and I will write to Margaret McDougall with a more comprehensive statement of the help that we seek to provide.

Access to finance is very important, but we should remember that, at the end of the day, banks—not Governments—make the decisions. Frankly, I do not think that Governments should make the decisions, although we want banks to take better decisions. I remind members that appeals against decisions of banks to reject lending have had an extremely high success rate. I drew that to MSPs' attention fairly recently, in a letter.

Jenny Marra and the other Labour Party members who spoke in the debate suggested that there should be a review. I was not persuaded before the debate that there was a case for a review. I listened with interest to the debate, in which a number of good points were made. I appreciated the spirit in which Jenny Marra made her contribution. I do not have a closed mind on the issue or on any other topics that relate to how we can help people in Scotland tackle the problems that we face.

I want to run through a number of points that indicate to me that now is not the right time for a review, after which I will be happy to give way to Jenny Marra. Incidentally, according to Jenny Marra's amendment, the review is to be conducted by the Government, but towards the end of her speech she suggested that the review could be carried out by a Scottish Parliament committee. It would be up to the committee, not the Government, to decide whether to hold a review. There seemed to be a shift in the approach that Jenny Marra advocated.

Be that as it may, I will run through six or seven arguments. First, I do not think that there are significant systemic failures in the system of delivering enterprise support. Were Jenny Marra able to point to any such failures, there might be a case for a review. One would expect a call for a major review to be accompanied by a forensic analysis of failures that show that the system is wrong and is not working. That is normally why one has a review, but I do not think that that applies in this case. Nor do I think, with respect, that any such failings have been identified by members in the debate.

Secondly, the business gateway delivery arrangements came into effect on 1 October last year, so they have not yet been in place for a year. Surely, we do not want to disrupt the work that people have been doing when the first year of the operation has not yet been completed, far less any evaluation of that work.

Thirdly, the new arrangements include a local development forum that is chaired jointly by me and Stephen Hagan. We have met once and will meet every six months or thereabouts, and that is a welcome form of scrutiny.

Fourthly, there is a regular review of the business gateway pipeline companies, involving an analysis by the business gateway, working with Scottish Enterprise and the companies themselves. It is fair to recognise that that review should do its work. Also, companies in the pipeline do not necessarily become account managed companies, as not all companies will achieve the level of success and growth appropriate for account management. Not all companies will go through the end of the pipeline in that way.

Fifthly, to have a review would cause an element of diversion and disruption of staff time. This is not the moment for us to divert the time and attention of those who work in the enterprise network to the conduct of a Government-instructed review. There is so much work to be done now work on task forces such as those involved with Vion and Freshlink Foods, work on Buckie Shipyard, work in the opencast coal mining sector, work in relation to many administration and solvency positions, the partnership action for continuing employment team's work throughout the country and work relating to positive opportunities. If we diverted the time of the leadership and staff—in local authorities, Scottish Enterprise, Scottish Development International, HIE or VisitScotland—to a major review, I do not think that they would thank us. I believe that not as a matter of politics, but as a practicality born out of the experience of working with those excellent public servants every day of the week.

Jenny Marra rose-

Fergus Ewing: I am happy to take an intervention from Jenny Marra, but I do not think that the case for a fundamental review of the enterprise delivery system has been made.

Jenny Marra: I thank the minister for saying that he does not have a closed mind on the matter. Businesses tell me that they must constantly review what they are doing to ensure that they are competitive in our economy. Should the institution that supports them, after six years of the same practices, not take a similar approach? It is not only when failure occurs that we need to review what we are doing. We need to take a pulse check constantly to ensure that we are meeting the needs of our economy.

Fergus Ewing: I assure Jenny Marra that all the enterprise agencies review, consider, analyse and examine their own performance all the time internally and together with ministers. However, with respect, that is different from having a fundamental review of the whole system. I do not believe that this is the time for that, but I am happy to continue to engage on the topic with Jenny Marra and all members in a co-operative fashion.

In drawing my remarks to a close, I pay tribute to all those who work in the enterprise agencies more widely. VisitScotland, which is playing a blinder for Scotland and winning international accolades, is headed up by Malcolm Roughead and Mike Cantley. I also pay tribute to Lena Wilson, Crawford Gillies, Alec Paterson and Lorne Crerar as well as people whom we do not hear so much about, such as David Rennie, who heads up the oil and gas team in Aberdeen. I work daily with all those people and we recognise today, perhaps for the first time in detail, the work that they have done. We have had an opportunity to learn about that and we thank them for their contributions.

Nevertheless, we are not complacent. As long as there are any young people who wake up in the morning without a job and without a place in training, apprenticeship or education, we will continue to do our utmost to put that right. Today, John Swinney's budget has made sure that we will be able to do that as best we can under the devolved settlement.

Business Motions

17:29

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is consideration of business motion S4M-07649, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, setting out a revision to the business programme for Thursday 12 September 2013.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees to the following revision to the programme of business for Thursday 12 September 2013—

after

2.30 pm	Stage 1 Debate: Scottish Independence Referendum Bill	
insert		

followed by Financial Independence FitzPatrick.]	Resolution: Referendum	Scottish Bill—[<i>Joe</i>
--	---------------------------	-------------------------------

Motion agreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next item of business is consideration of business motion S4M-07647, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, setting out a business programme.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees the following programme of business—

Tuesday 17 September 2013

2.00 pm	Time for Reflection	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
followed by	Topical Questions (if selected)	
followed by	Scottish Government Debate: Open Cast Mining in Scotland, Coaling and Restoring	
followed by	Business Motions	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business	
Wednesday 18 September 2013		
2.00 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
followed by	Portfolio Questions Health and Wellbeing	
followed by	Scottish Government Debate: Scotland's Future	
followed by	Business Motions	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business	

Thursday 19 September 2013

Thursday 19 Sept	tember 2013		
11.40 am	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
11.40 am	General Questions		
12.00 pm	First Minister's Questions		
12.30 pm	Members' Business		
2.30 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
2.30 pm	Scottish Government Debate: The Scottish Economy		
followed by	Business Motions		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
5.00 pm	Decision Time		
Tuesday 24 September 2013			
2.00 pm	Time for Reflection		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
followed by	Topical Questions (if selected)		
followed by	Scottish Government Business		
followed by	Business Motions		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
5.00 pm	Decision Time		
followed by	Members' Business		
Wednesday 25 Se	eptember 2013		
2.00 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
2.00 pm	Portfolio Questions Culture and External Affairs; Infrastructure, Investment and Cities		
followed by	Scottish Government Business		
followed by	Business Motions		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
5.00 pm	Decision Time		
followed by	Members' Business		
Thursday 26 Sept	tember 2013		
11.40 am	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
11.40 am	General Questions		
12.00 pm	First Minister's Questions		
12.30 pm	Members' Business		
2.30 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
2.30 pm	Scottish Government Business		
followed by	Business Motions		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
5.00 pm	Decision Time—[Joe FitzPatrick.]		

Motion agreed to.

Parliamentary Bureau Motions

17:30

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is consideration of two Parliamentary Bureau motions. I ask Joe FitzPatrick to move motion S4M-07633, on committee membership, and motion S4M-07650, on approval of a Scottish statutory instrument.

Motions moved,

That the Parliament agrees that Cameron Buchanan be appointed to replace Margaret Mitchell as a member of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee.

That the Parliament agrees that the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (Designation of Persons as Scottish Public Authorities) Order 2013 [draft] be approved.—[*Joe FitzPatrick*.]

The Presiding Officer: The questions on the motions will be put at decision time.

Decision Time

17:31

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The first question is, that amendment S4M-07643.1, in the name of Jenny Marra, which seeks to amend motion S4M-07643, in the name of Fergus Ewing, on enterprise networks, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Henry, Hugh (Renfrewshire South) (Lab) Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 35, Against 84, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that amendment S4M-07643.2, in the name of Murdo Fraser, which seeks to amend motion S4M-07643, in the name of Fergus Ewing, on enterprise networks, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Henry, Hugh (Renfrewshire South) (Lab) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

22342

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 50, Against 70, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-07643, in the name of Fergus Ewing, on enterprise networks, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, lain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Henry, Hugh (Renfrewshire South) (Lab) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Against

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 117, Against 3, Abstentions 0.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament notes the challenging economic conditions of recent years, the emerging signs of the global economic recovery and the vital role that Scotland's enterprise agencies play in ensuring that its economy responds to these challenges and opportunities; supports the enterprise agencies in their role of delivering the Scottish Government's purpose of sustainable economic growth, and recognises the importance of the account management and other direct support that they provide to businesses and key sectors across the country to help them grow, create employment, increase exports, boost innovation and help Scotland become more globally competitive.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-07633, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on committee membership, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that Cameron Buchanan be appointed to replace Margaret Mitchell as a member of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee.

The Presiding Officer: The final question is, that motion S4M-07650, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on approval of a Scottish statutory instrument, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (Designation of Persons as Scottish Public Authorities) Order 2013 [draft] be approved.

End Revenge Porn

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): The final item of business today is a members' business debate on motion S4M-07333, in the name of Christina McKelvie, on end revenge porn Scotland. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament commends Scottish Women's Aid on its recently launched campaign against revenge porn, the first of its kind in the UK; understands that the campaign has been featured in a range of press and media outlets, such as The Sunday Times, Grazia, Woman's Hour and others, talking about revenge porn across the UK; notes that the term, revenge porn, refers to the act of a partner or ex-partner purposefully distributing images or videos of a sexual nature without the other person's consent and that the threat of distributing or the distribution of such material can be used as a tactic of domestic abuse, continuing controlling behaviour that characterises such abuse; considers that the work of organisations such as Lanarkshire Rape Crisis in supporting victims of all forms of sexual violence and abuse is vital, and would welcome widespread support for such groups.

17:36

Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP): Our everyday language is peppered with phrases rooted in the technology that we constantly use. There is a preponderance, though, of fruit: Apple, Orange and BlackBerry. It all sounds rather cosy and friendly, but there is a much blacker selection of terms that we have all become more aware of: online porn, online grooming and cyberbullying. More recently, we have become conscious of revenge porn.

Social media and all the photo message apps that go with it mean that an image can go viral in minutes. That is fine and a great idea. It is an ideal way for someone to share their holiday snaps with friends back home or to send family pictures to their children in Australia. I do not imagine that there is anything sinister in the minds of the developers who create the apps. However, in every positive piece of technology there seems to be a built-in backlash, and this time it is revenge porn.

A couple, in the privacy of their relationship, may choose to take private pictures or make videos for their own viewing. There is no question of exploitation, assuming that they are both over the age of consent, or of an act that is involuntary or exploitative. However, the couple may break up, and separation can bring out ugly and vengeful emotions. Putting private pictures on display across social networking sites requires a particularly malicious and abusive mindset.

Members should make no mistake: revenge porn is every bit as abusive as any other kind of domestic violence. Freedom of speech and freedom to protest cannot be translated into cyber abuse, as some would try to argue. Those actions are exploitative and cruel; they ruin lives and cost people their self-respect, their jobs and, in some cases, their lives. Twitter and Facebook may give us all the right to express an opinion, however bizarre or unpopular it may be, but they give no one the right to post pictures of ex-partners without either their knowledge or consent—it is not a licence to abuse.

Personal use of technology in its many forms is very difficult to police. It is so easy to press that button and post that picture, but the sad and tragic tales of those who have been exposed to revenge porn tell us how utterly devastating the effect can be. Victims are humiliated and controlled, just as they are in a physically abusive relationship.

Scottish Women's Aid is to be commended for its innovative campaign against revenge porn. A mini-site within the SWA main website was launched in July. Its purpose is twofold: to reinforce the fact that sharing private moments with a partner is not offensive but making them public without the partner's knowledge is; and to encourage more victims to come forward and tell their stories so that more people understand what is going on and just how abusive it is.

Decades ago, domestic abuse was not talked about or recognised—women walked into doors or fell downstairs. Things have moved on, although sadly there are still people in abusive relationships who are too frightened to come forward. Their confidence has been eaten away by their partners so effectively that many end up convinced that somehow the abuse is all their own fault. It is therefore vital that the new stop revenge porn Scotland site gains the maximum profile. That is why I am having this debate in the chamber.

Elaine Smith (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab): I apologise for not being able to stay for the whole debate. Does the member agree that pornography in general is part of the spectrum of violence against women and children and that it must be challenged as such?

Christina McKelvie: My friend and colleague Elaine Smith will know that my answer to that is yes. She will not be surprised about that—it is something that we have agreed on for many years.

As prevention worker Ellie Hutchinson from Scottish Women's Aid puts it,

"Domestic abuse is about the purpose of such behaviour. It's about control and humiliation. It's about power. Like a punch or a kick, the threat of or actual distribution of images is purposeful. It has meaning and intent: to retain and gain power and control." Members will have heard the argument that women somehow bring abuse upon themselves. It is said that they present themselves to be kicked and abused or even raped, or that it is their own fault that they allowed those pictures to be taken or that they did not leave their partner after the first incident of abuse. That kind of shaming and humiliation feeds perfectly into the mind of the abuser: "She asked for it." Of course she did not. Trying to force the responsibility on to the victim does not work any more effectively in cyber terms than it does in physical terms.

Ellie Hutchinson has seen that issue come up time and again. She says that one of the most consistent questions that women are asked is, "Why did you send or take those pictures?" To me, that is just a variation on the "Why does she stay?" theme, with added shaming around female sexuality. It places all the responsibility on the victim rather than the perpetrator. It keeps his actions hidden and normalises his behaviour. That is not an accident. This is sexism: those victimblaming statements prevent us from talking about the men who do it, from challenging the websites that host the images and from exploring ways to prevent it. It is up to all of us to speak out against victim blaming and to change the conversation. The question that we really need to be askingand answering-is not "Why did you do it?" but "Why does he think it's okay?"

Revenge porn is a harmful form of bigotry and sexual harassment. It exposes victims' sexuality in humiliating ways. Their naked photos appear on "slut shaming sites". Once their naked images are exposed, anonymous strangers send email messages and threaten rape. Some have sent vile messages such as, "First I will rape you, then I will kill you". Victims internalise these frightening and demeaning messages. I heartily commend Scottish Women's Aid for fighting revenge porn and making sure that the message is loud and clear: "You did nothing wrong having private moments with a partner. They are wrong for sharing those moments with anyone else without your consent."

Revenge porn is a new crime and it will take time and consultation to work out the best legal response. For the moment, there is a Scottish legal framework that can help victims using existing legislation. Discussions are on-going in the US, where revenge porn is now illegal in New Jersey and the state of California is considering introducing similar legislation. If we work together, this Parliament could consider that approach if it feels that it is appropriate.

I urge everyone to look at www.togetherwecanstopit.org, put up their story and their picture, and tell people, "You are not to blame". I commend the motion to the Parliament. 17:43

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): I congratulate Christina McKelvie on securing time for this important debate and I commend her on a very thoughtful speech. I join her in commending Scottish Women's Aid for its campaign, which I understand is probably the first in the world.

We can all agree that revenge porn is an unwelcome phenomenon of the digital age. It is shocking to see the extent to which domestic abuse can be perpetrated using social media and new technology. We know that domestic abuse is about power and control and that the consequences can be physical, sexual or emotional harm, but it would seem that power and now forms control extend to new ∩f communication, whether Twitter, Facebook or other social media. The distribution by a partner of sexual or intimate images to strangers and in public in order to threaten, intimidate and embarrass is frankly abhorrent, but it is a new form of the exercise of power and control.

I ask members to imagine for a minute what it must feel like for someone to have such intimate images shared with all and sundry, and the horror when other people think that it is okay to then abuse them, in turn, because of images that a former partner has posted. That betrayal of trust is truly awful.

People who are subjected to revenge porn are victims. Christina McKelvie was right about that. They deserve our sympathy and our support. We should also be angry on their behalf. We must do all that we can do to stop this insidious new form of abuse. We must ensure that revenge porn has no place in our society. Collectively, we need to create the conditions in which women and others can come forward to report abuse, knowing that they will be given support when they do so.

It is equally essential that staff in agencies that are likely to deal with the consequences of revenge porn, such as local authorities and the police, are appropriately trained and are sensitive to victims' needs. Too often, they do not know what to do or what the legal framework is. There needs to be practical knowledge of support services and a clear understanding of the law and the protections that are in place, notwithstanding that there might be a need to look further.

Existing legal remedies under the Communications Act 2003, the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 and the Protection from Harassment Act 1997 could be used. The question is whether we have used them. Have we measured their use? Have we begun to understand the scale of the problem and the barriers to reporting it? What more do we, collectively, need to do to ensure that there is appropriate action? I invite the minister to consider those points. What more can we do to ensure that the existing law is robustly enforced? Do we need to consider introducing legislation in the area?

When I visited the stop revenge porn Scotland website, I was struck by victims' stories. Let me share Holly's story with members. She wrote:

"He started posting explicit pictures and a video of me all over the Internet along with my full name, email address, job title, and specific details of where I worked and how far along I was in my PhD program. For 3 years damage control was a full-time job. I hired a lawyer to send him a letter. I begged and pleaded with 3 different police stations to file charges against him ... I hired an Internet specialist to help me take down the material. Ultimately, those avenues were dead ends".

We need to act on the stories of Holly and many other women. It is up to all of us to speak out. It is up to all of us to ensure that revenge porn is stamped out and has no place in 21st century Scotland.

17:47

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): I congratulate Christina McKelvie on bringing this debate to the Parliament, and I commend Scottish Women's Aid for raising awareness through its campaign. This is not an easy subject to discuss and debate, but it is important that we speak about it, because revenge porn, like every other form of porn, is a way of degrading and abusing—and therefore controlling—women.

The Women's Aid briefing on the matter contains the shocking revelation that women who are subjected to revenge porn are often asked why they consented to the images being made in the first place. I agree with Christina McKelvie that that is a classic case of blaming the victim. It is quite clear that in such cases consent is limited and does not extend to the sharing of images with anyone other than the person involved—and certainly not with the wider public, let alone the world, via the internet.

I am pleased that there are legal remedies. Unlike some countries, such as Germany, Scotland does not have a law that was drafted specifically to deal with revenge porn. However, we have a number of other laws. As Jackie Baillie said, perhaps not enough people access the legal remedies. I commend Women's Aid for explaining the remedies that people have, such as recourse under public indecency, breach of the peace and other offences under the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 or the Communications Act 2003.

The stop revenge porn website tells readers that a precedent was set in 2012 when a man was prosecuted in Dundee for posting images of his ex-partner on Facebook. There are also civil remedies, such as interdicts and defamation actions. The provision of such guidance is a way of empowering people, which is vital in the context of crimes in which the perpetrators set out to disempower and humiliate women.

The website also contains an uplifting and affirmative message to victims who, because of social norms, often blame themselves:

"It's not you who should have known better. It's not you who was silly. You are never to blame. You are never wrong to make an intimate moment with someone. They are wrong ... if they abuse/share this or threaten to do so!"

I would like to say something about revenge porn in its wider context. We cannot separate it from the growth of pornography generally. The biggest porn industry is in America, partly because of the size of the market and partly because of the constitutional right to free speech, which has been exploited by pornographers. Now that the internet crosses national boundaries and most of the big internet service providers operate according to American norms, we have seen an explosion of pornography around the world.

According to one estimate, there are nearly 25 million porn sites worldwide and they make up 12 per cent of all websites. Sebastian Anthony, writing for ExtremeTech, reports that Xvideos is the biggest porn site on the web, receiving 4.4 billion page views and 350 million unique visits a month. It is estimated to account for 30 per cent of all web traffic.

Is it any wonder, therefore, that broader online culture is also deeply sexist? We got a glimpse of that recently in the Twitter row when women were abused simply for campaigning to have a female image on Bank of England notes. It was indicative of a much larger problem.

I finish by quoting Danielle Keats Citron, professor of law at the University of Maryland, who has extensively researched the subject. She writes:

"The harassment of women online is a pernicious and widespread problem. It can be severe, involving threats of sexual violence, doctored photographs of women being suffocated, postings of women's home addresses alongside the suggestion that they should be raped, and technological attacks that shut down feminist blogs and websites."

She goes on to say that

"Cyber harassment is a uniquely gendered phenomenon"-

its victims are, overwhelmingly, female, just as about 85 per cent of users of pornography are male.

At the heart of revenge porn, therefore, lies the problem of male attitudes to women. Until we manage to tackle that effectively and to challenge misogyny wherever we find it, this phenomenon will not disappear.

17:51

Margaret Mitchell (Central Scotland) (Con): I congratulate Christina McKelvie on bringing this extremely important debate to Parliament and, by doing so, highlighting Scottish Women's Aid's campaign to end revenge porn in Scotland.

For the avoidance of doubt, revenge porn covers the situation in which, say, a partner or expartner deliberately distributes to others images or videos of a sexual nature without the consent of the subject of those images. In effect, the images are made public.

With the advance and proliferation of modern forms of communication, there are a host of ways in which those private images can be made public—for example, by posting them online on social networking sites such as Facebook and on specific revenge porn sites. Images can also be sent via emails and texts as well as by post. Distressingly, those images, in whatever form that they are made public, are often accompanied by the individual's name, address or place of employment.

That would be horrific for any individual who is the subject of revenge porn, regardless of age, but Scottish Women's Aid is particularly concerned about the impact on young people. That is a very real issue, as evidenced by an NSPCC investigation that revealed an increasing pressure on girls aged as young as 12 to send sexually explicit images to their boyfriends.

In addition, the Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre has highlighted that 70,000 still and moving indecent images of children were created in the United Kingdom last year, a fifth of which—some 14,000—were self-generated. Given that, there is an urgent requirement not only to educate our young people about the dangers of giving someone else possession of such an image but to ensure that young people learn about and appreciate the importance of establishing healthy and compassionate relationships based on mutual respect. In such relationships, there would be no question of either party being coerced into taking an indecent picture of themselves; nor would either party consider making an image of their current or former boyfriend or girlfriend public as an act of revenge.

Significantly, as the Scottish Women's Aid campaign points out, the threat or the actual distribution of such material is a form of domestic abuse because of the implicit humiliation and control involved. Scottish Women's Aid therefore seeks to reassure women who have been victims of revenge porn—an issue that affects men as well as women but, as Joan McAlpine pointed out, in much smaller numbers—that they are not at fault and that support and help are available. Crucially, the Scottish Women's Aid campaign places responsibility firmly back on the perpetrators who made the image public without consent.

Once an image is put online, it is incredibly hard to remove it, as it might have been downloaded and saved on other computers. In effect, it never really disappears. The loss of dignity, the impact on people's reputation and the effect that revenge porn can have on an individual's working and personal relationships cannot be undone.

I therefore very much welcome Scottish Women's Aid's campaign to support women who have been victims of this atrocious act, and I hope that it can encourage more people to come forward and seek help. In particular, I support the call to consider how best to secure the prosecution of those who are involved in deliberately sharing images that have been made public without the subject's consent.

17:56

Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP): I congratulate my colleague Christina McKelvie on securing this debate. I also congratulate—and welcome—people from Scottish Women's Aid, whose landmark campaign against revenge porn, as Jackie Baillie said, is the first of its kind in the United Kingdom. I thank them and others who have supported the campaign.

Abuse—sexual, domestic, physical and emotional—is abhorrent. The perpetrators must be punished and the victims must be protected. I am on the Justice Committee, which is currently considering the Victims and Witnesses (Scotland) Bill. It is concerned with putting victims at the heart of the justice system. That bill is still open to amendments at stage 2. I do not want to put the minister on the spot, but perhaps we could think about using amendments to that bill to do something about the abhorrent crime that we are discussing.

We must recognise that revenge porn is a new form of abuse and is something that we must tackle. We have heard examples of abuses and Scottish Women's Aid has included examples in its briefing. There must be nothing more horrifying for someone than to find out that—sometimes years later, as has been said—someone with whom they have shared a loving relationship has posted on social media websites images such as the ones that we have been discussing. It must be terrifying and horrifying to see pictures that were taken in, as Christina McKelvie said, a private moment being posted where other people can see them. People do not only put these pictures up on social media websites; they send them in letters and they email them to the individual concerned and to their workmates, as we have heard. They also include personal information such as where the person works, their name, their age and their address. It is horrifying. It must be like being stalked through social media websites.

That brings me to some of the issues that are raised in Scottish Women's Aid's handout. Others have talked about the legal remedies, but I would like the minister to clarify the situation with regard to the Communications Act 2003, which I understand to be reserved, not devolved. The briefing also mentions the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010, which deals with stalking and abusive relationships. Perhaps we can fit an amendment into that act.

It is important that we support these women and that they are aware of what is happening with the campaign, but it is also important that we do something to protect these women legally. I point out that it is undoubtedly women rather than men who are the victims. I commend Joan McAlpine's speech because, undoubtedly, revenge porn is another form of pornography and of abuse by men. Until we can rectify that and, perhaps, as Margaret Mitchell said, educate men in partnerships between people, we will never get rid of this type of porn or this type of abuse; it will just move on to something else.

I ask the minister to consider the issues that I have raised. Perhaps, collectively, this Parliament can amend the pieces of legislation that I have mentioned, particularly the one that is currently going through the Justice Committee.

18:00

Kezia Dugdale (Lothian) (Lab): Like others, I congratulate Christina McKelvie on securing the debate and on an excellent speech. I thoroughly enjoyed it.

Like others, I recognise the work of Scottish Women's Aid not only on revenge porn but on the wider issues around domestic violence. Its power and worth as an organisation has done us all a great service in the past two weeks. We need to recognise that in the debate. I am personally grateful to Scottish Women's Aid for supporting an event called next-generation feminists, which I recently hosted in the Parliament and in which the organisation played an integral part.

We are on the cusp, if not right in the middle, of a new phase of feminism being an in thing. There are a lot of national campaigns and we need to ensure that we capitalise on that. I refer to campaigns such as the lads mags campaign, the everyday sexism campaign, the no more page 3 campaign and the campaign for women on banknotes and the way in which the rape threats that came from that started a discourse on the power of social media and the threats that it poses.

I read in the paper this morning that no more page 3 is encouraging all the female MPs at Westminster, whenever they find a copy of *The Sun* in the House of Commons, to stick a no more page 3 sticker over page 3. I wonder whether there are enough women in the chamber to ensure that any page 3 newspaper in the Scottish Parliament might look somewhat different after tonight.

There is a point in that because, as much as I welcome the debate, looking around the room at my sisters, I feel a little bit like I am preaching to the converted. If we have a new phase of feminism, we need to ensure that we use that platform wisely and that it has an impact on the people who have the power to effect change. We need some brothers in the room and, particularly, on boards of multinational corporations and media outlets to listen to the debate and use the power that they have to change things for the benefit of everyone.

On revenge porn, I will talk briefly about the role and responsibility of the education on healthy relationships with which we provide young people.

I have done quite a lot of work recently on cyberbullying. I recently visited a school in Edinburgh—Craigmount high school—where I was shocked to discover that every pupil had an iPhone or a 3G-enabled smartphone in their pocket and that 40 per cent of the pupils had their own iPads or laptops of which they had exclusive use when they went home at night.

We need to understand that technology is developing at a far faster rate than society's ability to cope with it. We do not really understand the impact that issues such as revenge porn on new media have on young people and the people who are exposed to them.

Cyberbullying is an example of that. The impact of cyberbullying is dark. It is subversive. It bubbles under the surface until it explodes in the most dramatic way for a young person. It is destroying lives and, often, it is too late.

Parents do not necessarily understand the technology. They think that, if their child is in the room upstairs, they are safe because they are not outside, but they are exposed to dangers that the parents do not necessarily understand.

Teachers perhaps do not know the dangers that the new media pose and, therefore, do not know how to address them in a classroom environment. However, the way in which we teach healthy relationships and sex education in the classroom environment needs to understand technology. If somebody gets involved in a relationship with a partner for the first time, they experience the sense of trust for the first time—what is okay and not okay to share; where the boundaries are. Those issues are smashed wide open when we apply technology to them and give a child a smartphone with the power to take a picture that can be around the world in seconds.

We need to understand the technological impact on how we teach sexual health and how we ensure that young people—particularly young women—grow up with a sense of self-confidence, self-esteem and control over their bodies being theirs and not men's. Jackie Baillie described that well when she talked about power and control being at the heart of the domestic violence debate.

My colleague Richard Simpson put to the Education and Culture Committee a suggestion for a parliamentary inquiry into cyberbullying. I hope that the committee will consider and accept that suggestion. If it does, I wonder whether we can factor revenge porn and its impact on young people into the committee's work.

18:04

The Minister for Commonwealth Games and Sport (Shona Robison): I convey my thanks and congratulations to Christina McKelvie for securing the debate and for bringing this very important and timely matter to the Parliament. The speeches have been very thought-provoking and useful. It may be a shame that no men have contributed to the debate, but it is important that we build on the existing consensus among members in the chamber and that we widen the issue out to others in Parliament. There have been some very helpful suggestions about how we might go forward with that from tonight.

I congratulate the violence against women organisations such as Scottish Women's Aid, Rape Crisis Scotland, the Zero Tolerance Trust and the Women's Support Project for doing so much to bring revenge porn and other forms of violence against women to our attention. Using new media such as Twitter and Facebook, Scottish Women's Aid in particular has reached thousands of people with information about revenge porn. Its mini-site has been very successful in stimulating debate and raising awareness. I understand that Ellie Hutchinson from Scottish Women's Aid is to deliver a seminar on revenge porn for officials in the Scottish Government next month, which I am sure will be very informative and useful as we take the matter forward.

Violence against women involves a wide range of crimes and behaviours, as has been said by many people. Some are centuries old; others are newer and constantly developing and changing. It reflects the worst of humanity that some of us manage to find ways to pervert innovations such as new media and forms of instant communication, which should be positive, and turn them into something entirely negative. I am sure that pretty much all of us have taken a photo on our mobiles and shared it with family and friends. Something as simple as that can give a lot of pleasure, keep us in touch with people whom we do not see regularly and extend our connections outwith our own circles.

Revenge porn is particularly worrying because it combines forms of humiliation of specific targeted women with the generally increasing acceptability of objectified images of women. It also adds to the current very worrying trend that has seen women receiving rape and death threats on Twitter simply for expressing entirely legitimate views, or even because of their appearance. I am sure that we have all been appalled by those subversions of social media and the misogyny that they reveal.

Revenge porn affects us all. Even if we have not been directly affected, it affects us all as women, and societal attitudes to women are impacted upon by such things. Of course, we are all affected by a prevailing culture in which images of women's bodies are used in a variety of negative ways.

Men, too, are adversely affected. Thankfully, only a small minority of men are abusive or violent towards women, but those who are not abusive or violent often feel unfairly accused, or that they are being lumped in with a group of men whose attitudes they abhor. Violence against women impacts on relationships between men and women, as does anything that prevents true equality between men and women.

Although all men are not the problem by any means, all men have a role in helping to end revenge porn and other forms of violence against women. Men often ask what they can do, apart from not using abuse or coercive control in their own relationships. The answer is quite straightforward. They can challenge their friends when they show around objectified images of women. They can act and not just be bystanders.

In addition to the women's organisations that I mentioned earlier, there is also work in Scotland that is aimed at supporting men to challenge their peers. The White Ribbon Scotland campaign signs up men to pledge not to use, collude with, or remain silent about, violence against women.

There is also the mentors in violence prevention project, which the violence reduction unit has been piloting successfully in a number of schools. MVP trains young people in high schools to act as champions of non-violence and to challenge safely their peers about their attitudes and behaviour.

As many members will be aware, we are currently developing a violence against women strategy for Scotland. That strategy will bring together commitments from all partners across a range of directorates in the Scottish Government, the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities, Police Scotland, NHS Scotland and, of course, our important third sector partners. It will be the first such document in Scotland and will shape how we tackle violence against women in the years ahead. It will reflect the new realities in which women are controlled, harassed and humiliated through the new media-the accessibility and reach of which have transmitted men's abuse on to a world stage. The strategy is a good place for us to consider how we approach the issues that have been raised this evening.

Of course, the strategy will reinforce the links between all forms of violence against women domestic abuse, rape, sexual assault, honourbased violence or commercial sexual exploitation. That important issue has been touched on. We know that women experience a spectrum of violence and that many women experience many forms of violence over their lifetimes. We believe that, because pornography objectifies women and commodifies them as being available for sale, it is a form of violence against women that has consequences that reach much further than those for the women who are involved in its production.

Revenge porn is an obvious example of the spectrum of violence against women, and it is an important issue of concern. It is a mark of the effectiveness of the women's organisations in Scotland that the issue has been so quickly identified from the real experiences of women and brought to our attention.

There is a lot of debate at the moment about the kind of country that we want Scotland to be. I am sure that all members share the view that we want a Scotland where violence against women does not happen, is simply unthinkable and has been consigned to the past. We want a Scotland where no woman ever finds that intimate pictures of her have been distributed to the world in revenge and to humiliate her. I want a Scotland where no woman will be threatened with rape or death because she has expressed views or simply because she is in the public eye. We have some work to do to achieve that vision of Scotland, which I am sure we all share.

The positive thing about this evening's debate is the consensus—it exists not just in Parliament, but in the many organisations and communities out there—that we can work together to make that happen. The new strategy is a good starting point. Positive suggestions have been made during the debate, which I will ensure are taken forward. I am sure that the committees that have been mentioned will want to consider including this important issue in their work programmes. I hope that, from the small beginnings of tonight's debate, bigger things can come. Meeting closed at 18:12.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Report to be forwarded to them should give notice to SPICe.

Available in e-format only. Printed Scottish Parliament documentation is published in Edinburgh by APS Group Scotland.

All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:

www.scottish.parliament.uk

For details of documents available to order in hard copy format, please contact: APS Scottish Parliament Publications on 0131 629 9941. For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:

Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk

e-format first available ISBN 978-1-78351-613-1

Revised e-format available ISBN 978-1-78351-631-5

Printed in Scotland by APS Group Scotland